



Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-1-2010

# The use of handheld devices for improved phonemic awareness in a traditional kindergarten classroom

Cristy Ann Magagna-McBee Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Instructional Media Design Commons</u>, <u>Other Education Commons</u>, <u>Pre-Elementary</u>, <u>Early Childhood, Kindergarten Teacher Education Commons</u>, and the <u>Reading and Language</u> Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

### Walden University

#### **COLLEGE OF EDUCATION**

This is to certify that the dissertation by

Cristy Ann Magagna-McBee

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

**Review Committee** 

Dr. MaryFriend Shepard, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Paula Dawidowicz, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Andrew Thomas, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer

David Clinefelter, Ph.D.

Walden University 2010

#### Abstract

## The Use of Handheld Devices for Improved Phonemic Awareness in a Traditional Kindergarten Classroom

by

Cristy Ann Magagna-McBee

M.Ed., Regis University, 2004

B.A., Regis University, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Education

Walden University

May 2010

#### **Abstract**

Effective teaching strategies that improve the development of phonemic awareness are important to ensure students are fluent readers by third grade. The use of handheld devices to improve phonemic awareness with kindergarten students may be such a strategy, but no research exists that evaluates the use of these devices. This study explored the effectiveness of Bee-Bot handheld devices in kindergarten classrooms to teach phonemic awareness. A 4-month sequential mixed-methods study was conducted in four classrooms: two that used Bee-Bot handheld devices in phonemic awareness lessons and two that never used the devices. The score gain (Fall 2009 to Winter 2010) for initial sound fluency (ISF) on the DIBELS assessment was analyzed for between-group effects using ANCOVA, controlling for Fall 2009 letter naming fluency (LNF) scores. No significant difference was found between ISF scores of students using the Bee-Bots and those not using them. Interviews of the 4 classroom teachers determined their perceptions of the ways handheld devices supported phonemic awareness. Interviews were coded for (a) assessments, (b) engagement, (c) strategies, (d) social growth and (e) technology standards. Teachers reported that students using Bee-Bot handheld devices remained on task longer, increased motivation, developed leadership skills, and students enjoyed learning with the devices. Findings suggest that handheld devices used to enhance phonemic awareness in kindergarten may offer an engaging way to enhance social skills while providing technology integration. This study contributes to social change by improving teacher knowledge of technology-assisted strategies for social and literacy skills among less advantaged populations.

# The Use of Handheld Devices for Improved Phonemic Awareness in a Traditional Kindergarten Classroom

by

Cristy Ann Magagna-McBee

M.Ed., Regis University, 2004

B.A., Regis University, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Educational Technology

Walden University

May 2010

UMI Number: 3404418

#### All rights reserved

#### INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3404418
Copyright 2010 by ProQuest LLC.
All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

#### Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated with gratefulness and love to my family: my parents Rudy and Susan Magagna, who have always supported my education and career goals, my husband Jim W. McBee, who helped with the day to day work of our household so that I could work on this degree, and my sons Michael Avery and Cristopher Jaden, who supported mommy with their love and understanding. The great working relationship with Bill Glass, of the Terrapin Logo Company who markets the Bee-Bot handheld units, for his professional help throughout this process. It's also dedicated to my school district families with respect and admiration: Dr. Ron Kalicki, Tina Searle, Sandy Bowling, Stacey Court, Brian Kaumo, Chase Hafner, Mike Lopiccolo, Paul Grube, Dr. Craig Sorenson, Stephanie Cordova, and all the others who guided my work in the right direction. Finally, I would like to thank my close Walden friend Heidi Connor, for their help with editing and educational expertise. Thank you to all of you because without your support and understanding I would not have made it.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Muhammad Betz who has been with me for the past several years as my mentor; Dr. MaryFriend Shepard for guiding me through the dissertation process and taking over as my committee chairman; Dr. Paula Dawidowicz for serving on my committee and offering great advice to speed me through the process; Dr. Andrew Thomas who served as my URR and provided great feedback in a timely manner; Dr. Curt Mearns for his help with my work; and the staff at Walden University who have guided me through this tough, but great lifelong learning opportunity.

#### Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Questions and Hypothesis	4
Nature of the Study	5
Theoretical Base	8
Operational Definitions	10
Assumptions	11
Limitations	11
Scope.	12
Delimitations	13
Significance of Study	14
Summary	15
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
Research Strategy	18
Theoretical Foundation	19
John Dewey	20
Maria Montessori	21
Phonemic Awareness	23
Technology Used in Schools: Kindergarten Literacy	40

	Handheld Devices in Schools	57
	Handheld Devices Used for Behavior	74
	Methodology	76
	Mixed-Method Study Definition	76
	Strengths of Mixed-Method Sequential Study	76
	Limitations of Mixed Method Sequential Study	77
Ch	apter 3: Research Method	80
	Research Design	80
	Role of the Researcher	81
	Research Questions	83
	Context	84
	Instrumentation and Materials	85
	Interview Protocol	88
	Data Collection	89
	Protection of Participants' Rights	90
Ch	apter 4: Results	92
	Phase 1: Quantitative Results	93
	Research Question 1	94
	Hypotheses	95
	Results	95
	Phase 2: Qualitative Results	96

### Research Question 2: "What is the teachers' perception of the ways

handheld devices support or do not support student develo	opment of
phonemic awareness?"	96
Coding for Themes	97
Data Analysis	98
Assessments	98
Engagement	102
Strategies	105
Social Growth	107
Meeting Requirements for Technology Integration	108
Integration of Quantitative and Qualitative Data	111
Evidence of Quality	111
Discrepant Cases	112
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	113
Interpretation of Findings	115
Theoretical Implications	121
Implications for Social Change	124
Recommendations for Action	125
Recommendations for Future Research	126
Reflections on the Researchers Personal Experiences	128
Conclusion	129

Appendix A: Letter of Cooperation School District A	150
Appendix B: Letter of Cooperation School District B	151
Appendix C: Interview Questions for Classrooms Teachers With Handheld	
Devices	152
Appendix D: Interview Questions for Teachers Without Handheld Device	155
Appendix E: Enrollment Summary for School District A	158
Appendix F: Enrollment Summary for School District B	159
Appendix G: Participation Consent Form.	160
Appendix H: Confidentiality Form	162
Curriculum Vitae	163

#### List of Tables

Table 1. Teacher Participants	93
Table 2. Actual Mean Scores from Fall to Winter	94
Table 3. ANOVA Summary Table	95
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics for the DIBELS Differences	96

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Current educational research indicates that experiences during the early childhood years (birth to age 8) contribute to the development of literacy in both formal and informal learning settings (International Reading Association, 2009; National Association for the Education of Young Children, 2009). A greater knowledge of phonemic awareness is the first step in beginning literacy programs (Fien, Baker, Smolkowski, Smith, Kame'enui, & Beck, 2008; Flanigan, 2007; Musti-Rao & Cartledge, 2007; Powers & Price-Johnson, 2006). Research indicated that phonemic awareness requires readers to become aware of the sounds themselves (Giles & Wellhousen, 2005; Wang, Jaruszewicz, Rosen, Berson, Bailey, Hartle, Griebling, Buckleitner, Blagojevic, & Robinson, 2008).

According to Yopp (1992) phonemic awareness is the ability to hear and manipulate the sounds in spoken words and the understanding that spoken words and syllables are made up of sequences of speech sounds (as cited in DIBELS, 2009). Phonemic awareness is essential to learning to read in an alphabetical writing system, because letters represent sounds or phonemes. Phonemic awareness is a strong predictor of children who experience early reading success.

In addition to engaging children in literature-related resources that emphasize the sounds of language and support the development of phonemic awareness, students begin to establish the basis needed to learn to read (Zeece, 2006). Technology-rich resources can be used to encourage sound and word play in the context of typically occurring events in an early childhood setting, such as prerecorded storytelling and theatrics and listening to audios of recorded books and poems. Technology in the classroom has

become a more frequent teaching tool because of 21<sup>st</sup> century learners, who use video games, computers, and other technology tools to learn and gather information (Padak & Rasinski, 2008).

The computer provides the fastest growing resource of material for reading and learning to read and has become part of everyday life (DeWitt, 2006; Looney, 2005; NAEYC, 1996; Padak & Rasinski, 2008). The Internet can offer a wide variety of opportunities for literacy growth, for parents and educators, by giving opportunities for students to read e-Books, play online reading games, and to use interactive learning formats. Although computers connected to the Internet help students focus on the skills needed to become readers, they must be challenged and engaged, or they will lose interest and begin to falter academically (Padak & Rasinski, 2008).

Researchers have examined the use of handheld devices in a variety of K-12 classroom, but little research has examined their use in a Kindergarten classroom to improve reading in general or phonemic awareness specifically (Baumbach, Christopher, Fasimpaur, & Oliver, 2004; Gulchak, 2008; Jonassen, Howland, Moore, & Marra, 2003; Penuel, 2005; Pownell & Bailey, 2003; Roblyer, 2006; Warlick, 2004). Current research indicates that handheld devices can be powerful tools in educational settings and offer school districts a more economical and resource-rich means of providing technology to students (Roblyer, 2006). If used correctly, handheld devices can be powerful tools for motivating students in their literacy instruction, therefore, increasing student achievement (Baumbach, Christopher, Fasimpaur, & Oliver, 2004).

According to Lucas and McKee (2007) classrooms teachers struggle with issues

surrounding the preparation of all students in grades PreK-12. They noted that one of the best practices identified to improve PreK-12 student engagement and academic growth was the integration of technology. Teacher perceptions regarding technology and the instructional research behind it have given both practicing teachers and student teachers a new understanding of the importance of teaching to 21<sup>st</sup> century students.

The development of phonemic awareness has been identified as an important precursor to literacy (Baumbach et al., 2004). Providing phonemic awareness lessons with the assistance of technology can be equally important because of the demands of living in the 21st century and the needs of students to be successful in this technological age (Roblyer, 2006). There has not yet been a study conducted that examines the use of handheld devices in Kindergarten classrooms to improve phonemic awareness. In the literature review of chapter 2 these issues will be discussed in greater depth.

#### **Problem Statement**

Early childhood literacy programs include the use of phonemic awareness in emerging reading development and stress the importance of these skills in order for students to become fluent readers by third grade (Chard, Pikulski, & Templeton, 2000; Flanigan, 2007; Morris, Bloodgood, Loma, & Perrey, 2003; O'Connor, 2008; Pinnell & Fountas, 1998; Powers, Price, & Jonson, 2006). According to Yopp (1992) phonemic awareness has been defined as the ability to hear and manipulate the sounds in words spoken or read aloud, understanding that these oral words and their syllables are comprised of a series of sounds (as cited in DIBELS, 2009). Phonemic Awareness is commonly assessed from the beginning of Kindergarten through the end of first grade

and a common measure is the Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS) assessment (DIBELS Data Systems, 2009). The Kindergarten DIBELS assessment for both fall and winter includes Letter Naming Fluency (LNF) and Initial Sound Fluency (ISF).

Furthermore, according to the International Reading Association ([IRA], 2002), the Internet, presentation software, e-Books, and e-mail are regularly redefining the nature of literacy in the United States and around the world, beginning in early childhood education. According to Padak and Rasinski (2008) technology is a frequent teaching tool for the 21<sup>st</sup> century learner, engaging them and allowing for a faster rate of proficiency. No study has been found which explores the use of handheld devices in a Kindergarten classroom to improve phonemic awareness. This mixed-method sequential contributed to the body of knowledge needed to address the use of handheld computers to improve phonemic awareness.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this research was to evaluate the impact of handheld devices on phonemic awareness in a Kindergarten classroom. The research addressed teacher perceptions of the use of the handheld devices with Kindergarten students to enhance phonemic awareness.

#### **Research Questions and Hypothesis**

This mixed method sequential study was guided and framed by the following research questions:

RQ 1: Are there significant differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices?

H<sub>0:</sub> There are no significant differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices.

H<sub>a:</sub> There is a significant difference between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices.

**RQ 2**: What are the teachers' perceptions of the ways handheld devices support or do not support student development of phonemic awareness?

#### **Nature of the Study**

This mixed-methods sequential study included research in four Kindergarten classrooms: two classrooms had used handheld devices throughout the academic curriculum within their phonemic awareness lessons; two had never used the devices. These four classrooms were selected from two different small, rural school districts in the Rocky Mountain region. The classes were preselected based on availability within the two schools, those who already had the handheld devices and their colleagues who did not have handheld devices, but who had previous teaching experience.

DIBELS assessments are given in both schools three times each year (fall, winter, and spring) to measure phonemic awareness, along with other reading literacy skills.

Archived data from the Fall 2009 and Winter 2010 DIBELS assessments were analyzed

using an ANCOVA. In this mixed-methods sequential study the researcher did analyze archived scores from DIBELS to determine if Kindergarten students using handheld devices improved their phonemic awareness scores over those students not using handheld devices. The dependent variable was the difference (DIF) between the ISF score for Fall 2009 and Winter 2010 phonemic awareness measured by DIBELS. The covariate was Fall 2009 LNF DIBELS scores.

The student population was pooled in both classes when reporting the findings for both the group using the handheld devices and the group not using them. The model used was a general linear model, which described an observed score (difference between DIBELS Fall 2009 and Winter 2010) as the sum of the population mean, the treatment effect for a specific factor (use of handheld devices), and random error. In this design, the subjects were preassigned to the group using the handheld devices for the treatment and others were been pre-assigned to the group not using the handheld devices. This design had no systematic bias arising from how participants collaboratively worked together in the treatment means (using handheld devices). The classes came from similar rural school districts, with similiar demongraphics and school cultures (see Appendices E & F). As well, both schools offered Title 1, Special Education, and ELL services to their students.

This allowed for individual differences to be uncontrolled as the students worked through the lesson using the handheld devices in a constructivist way. There were equally different numbers of good and poor subjects assigned to the treatment group using the handheld devices and to the group not using the handheld devices.

The qualitative measures were the interviews of classroom teachers about how they used the handheld devices to understand further how they affected students' development of phonemic awareness. Interviews of the four classroom teachers were conducted following the analysis of the DIBELS data to determine the way in which phonemic awareness was taught and their perceptions of how the students learned these skills. Teacher perceptions about the findings were probed.

Prior to collecting any data, letters of cooperation, included in Appendices A & B, between the researcher and the school districts, were gathered obtaining permission to conduct the study, to interview teachers, and to review archived data on the participants in the classrooms. The archived data from the DIBELS assessment did explain the progress the Kindergarten students made with both acquisition and increase of their phonemic awareness, with two measures being taken. The fall 2009 mean LNF DIBELS score was the covariate and these scores were analyzed along side the DIF score (the difference between ISF for fall 2009 and winter 2010) to determine if the treatment had an impact or not. The classroom teachers who used handheld devices were interviewed with questions about what they saw when students were using the handheld devices, their thoughts on whether the handheld devices made a difference with phonemic awareness, what impact the use of these devices has on their teaching, and a discussion on the methods used for phonemic awareness, including what works and what does not work. Those teachers not using the handheld devices were asked questions about their methods for teacher phonemic awareness and whether they think the handheld devices would have

helped them or hinder the learning. A list of interview questions for both groups has been included in Appendices C & D.

The research was conducted in the Rocky Mountain region in two different school districts and elementary schools (K-4 building) and in four different Kindergarten classrooms. The school districts are both rural districts and these schools are the only ones using handheld devices to teach students in any grade and in any building. In each of the two schools, one classroom makes use of the handheld devices and one does not.

In the four classrooms there is a balance of experience with the teachers and students. In the two classrooms using the handheld devices, one teacher has been teaching for eight years and in a variety of grade levels and the other teacher has taught five years, and one teacher has only taught in Kindergarten. In the two classrooms not using the handheld devices one teacher has had two years of experience, one being in Kindergarten and the other is a new teacher this year to the district, but has had six years of previous experience in another district.

Students in the two classrooms using handheld devices were provided with a classroom set of Terrapin Logo Bee-Bots. These devices were purchased through a grant written by the researcher and provided by the state Department of Education and a local communication company.

#### **Theoretical Base**

This study was based on the constructivist theories of two leading pioneers in learning: Dewey (1938) and Montessori (1965). These theories were chosen because of their tenets regarding the creation of knowledge and meaning from experiences. The

theory of constructivism can enlighten our understanding of the way students reflect on their own experiences and then construct their own understandings of the world around them. This theory advocates that students learn best when actively engaged in their curricula. Dewey was instrumental in making the qualities of curriculum more meaningful for young children by helping them retain learning through a constructivist approach and a real-world environment in the classrooms. Montessori ensured that the classroom environment was carefully prepared for optimal learning by ensuring that there was guidance given to the natural physiological and physical development of the student. This method was divided into three parts: (a) motor education, (b) sensory education, and (c) language.

Dewey's theory included the idea that the teacher's role was to plan well thought out and content specific curricula that allowed students to begin to learn about their environment and create their own type of learning (Dewey, 1938). He believed students should invent their own ideas and work outside the traditional means of education and the delivery of learning. Dewey believed that the subject matter of education consisted of bodies of information and skills from the past that were designed to guide educational processes; in the present time, the business of education is to ensure students are ready for a world rich in technology and fast paced schedules. Schools have developed standards and rules of conduct, formed habits and actions that guide students to become good citizens and offer guidance to ensure social skills and communication skills are developed.

Montessori's (1965) theory included the idea of a child-centered learning environment that provided real tools for children to use and for them to be responsible for their learning and the tools they select. Montessori also believed that learning is for the whole child and must include social and intellectual components. Both the social and the intellectual components are taught through sensory, motor, and language skills and with the use of child-sized tools for small hands. This will be discussed in depth, in Chapter 2.

#### **Operational Definitions**

**Bee-Bot**: A handheld robot designed for use by young children and used for teaching skills like sequencing, problem solving, and teamwork (Terrapin Logo, 2009).

**DIBELS:** Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills) is a set of procedures and measures for assessing the acquisition of early literacy skills from Kindergarten through sixth grade. They are designed to be short measures used to monitor regularly the development of early literacy and early reading skills. The DIBELS assessment will provide an overall score for initial sound fluency and letter naming fluency. Both of these sections are listed as phonemic awareness scores for Kindergarten and initial sound fluency is only reported and tested in Kindergarten (*DIBELS*, 2009).

**Early Childhood**: A stage of development ranging from 3 to 8 years old and traditionally in grades PreK-3<sup>rd</sup> grade, (NAEYC, 2009).

**Handheld Device:** A pocket-sized computing device, typically having a display screen or some sort of input buttons, allow for convenience for business and education (Integrating Educational Technology into Teaching, Roblyer, 2006, p. G-5).

**Phonemic Awareness:** The ability to segment and manipulate the sounds of oral language (IRA, 1998; 2009).

#### **Assumptions**

This mixed-methods sequential design included several assumptions. First, it was assumed that teachers' responses to the interview questions were open and honest. Second, it was assumed that the archived DIBELS scores were a valid assessment of phonemic awareness and represented all of the students in the four classrooms. Third, it was assumed that the students using the handheld devices understood how to use the devices correctly. Fourth, it was assumed that the DIBELS scores for the ANCOVA were normally distributed in each group (users and nonusers), and that the variance was homogeneous. Fifth, linearity of regression was assumed in terms of the relationship between the DIF scores (the difference between the ISF fall 2009 and winter 2010 DIBELS) and the independent variable (use of Bee-Bots). Sixth, there was homogeneity of regression where each level of the independent variable (each class) is taught using the same standards, curriculum, and assessments, has a similar student composition, and can therefore be expected to perform about the same on the fall LNF 2009 DIBELS (covariate).

#### Limitations

This mixed-methods sequential study was undertaken in two small, rural school

districts, so the results may be different from those found in other locations.

Furthermore, the study was only conducted with Kindergarten students in two rural grade schools and this might have provided different results if conducted in another location and with more classrooms and grade levels.

Another limitation might have been the use of only handheld computers to increase phonemic awareness when so many other devices could have been used. However, this is a beginning for research on technology and the improvement of phonemic awareness.

Third, the teachers chosen volunteered and may not be the best representation of the two schools' districts or the use of technology integration in Kindergarten and fir teaching phonemic awareness to students. These two classrooms were the only ones in the county using the handheld devices and this limited the study to only two classrooms using handhelds and two that were not using them.

Because of these limitations, the results of this study are not generalizeable beyond the sample and should be interpreted as promising possible effects of the implementation of Bee-Bots for teaching phonemic awareness in Kindergarten.

#### Scope

The research population of this study included students in two classrooms in two different school districts within the Rocky Mountain region. This sampling was selected because of the availability of the handheld devices within these two rural school districts. The handheld devices were only found in two schools, one in the first district and one in the second district, and only in Kindergarten classrooms. The population was limited to

only two classrooms not using the handheld devices with Kindergarten students and two classrooms using the handheld devices with Kindergarten students. These teachers were in the same schools with those using the handheld devices to ensure consistency with curriculum and student expectations.

The study gathered data from teacher interviews and from archived DIBELS scores for fall 2009 and winter 2010. The study has defined boundaries as it was only conducted with Kindergarten students in two elementary schools. The school districts used in this study were both rural and the populations were considerably small, with limited resources. The handheld devices were only found in these two schools, within the Rocky Mountain region, which further limited the study to defined classrooms and teachers. The study itself was conducted in a short time frame and archived data was used to determine academic growth.

#### **Delimitations**

This research was concerned with discovering if handheld devices could increase student achievement in phonemic awareness. The research population of this study was Kindergarten students in four different classrooms in two schools and school districts in the Rocky Mountain region. There was a maximum of 92 students, 23 in each classroom. The two districts and schools were selected because they were the only ones making use of the handheld devices in the Kindergarten classrooms. The researcher received a grant and purchase handheld devices for two of the four classrooms, and this limited who could make use of the devices.

#### **Significance of Study**

The research was based on the premise that phonemic awareness is essential to learning to read and that the need to teach students to use technology is equally as important to their success in a communication rich world. The research was based on the understanding that handheld devices are not currently being widely used in Kindergarten classrooms to teach phonemic awareness. Research was warranted in the areas of handheld devices, and phonemic awareness to discover if reading skills were enhanced through the use of handheld devices, thus filling a gap in literature.

The results of this study might change the thinking of other school district school boards and administrators, paving the way for further use of handheld devices in all grades and curriculum areas, and more specifically in Kindergarten classrooms. School administrators and boards of education might consider additional funding for more technology and new policies requiring constructivist thinking and pedagogy that allows for more independent and innovative learning in early childhood classrooms.

Further, the findings of this study make a significant contribution to the existing body of knowledge on the topic of handheld devices in education. Research exists examining how handheld devices are used in classrooms and in a variety of subject areas, but predominantly at the secondary and intermediate levels. Limited research was found to show that handheld devices were being used in Kindergarten classrooms and for phonemic awareness lessons.

This study contributed to positive social change by giving Kindergarten an opportunity to share their best practices related to the use of handheld devices to improve

phonemic awareness. The researcher will use this study to further share the methods of using handheld devices, like the Terrapin Logo Bee-Bot, to enhance learning.

Kindergarten teachers now have an opportunity to enhance student learning while using this technology tool and given that Kindergarten is the first formal year of education this gave students empowerment over learning and offered another approach to 21st century leaning.

#### **Summary**

In Chapter 1, an explanation of key research on both phonemic awareness and handheld devices was provided and that information showed a gap in the literature that needed to be addressed. The present study focused on increasing phonemic awareness in traditional Kindergarten classrooms that used handheld devices. During the 2009-2010 school year, forty-five Kindergarten students participated in two classrooms that used handheld devices to teach phonemic awareness and another forty-five students participated in two classrooms that did not use handheld devices. This study determined that the use of handheld devices in the classroom enhanced the development of phonemic awareness in current literacy program as measured by the DIBELS pre and posttest scores. The forty-five Kindergarten students in the handheld group engaged in the use of handheld devices for phonemic awareness, while another forty-five Kindergarten students in the non-handheld classes did not use handhelds to learn phonemic awareness.

Chapter 2 includes information on current research and literature regarding phonemic awareness, the integration of other forms of technology in classrooms, and the use of a variety of handheld devices for instructional purposes. A discussion of Dewey

and Montessori's constructivist learning theories as they relate to early childhood education will be discussed as a framework for this study. Finally, a discussion of the mixed method sequential study (Teddlie & Yu, 2007) is included, demonstrating its strengths and weaknesses and why the mixed-method sequential study was chosen. Other methodologies that were considered are discussed demonstrating why they were rejected for this study.

Chapter 3 provides a detailed overview of the research design and the methodology used to gather, analyze, and transcribe the information. This research used a mixed-method sequential approach to examine the use of handheld devices in the Kindergarten classroom to improve phonemic awareness. The study was conducted in two different small, rural school districts, in two classrooms that did make use of handheld devices and in two classrooms that did not make use of handheld devices in Kindergarten during phonemic awareness lessons. Interviews of and an analysis of archived DIBELS scores have been used to conduct the study.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

This literature review encompasses themes of best practices to increase levels of achievement in phonemic awareness during instruction in early childhood education. Specific technology integration studies for enhancing student achievement in literacy instruction is reviewed. Technology used in classrooms, including computers and software, digital and video cameras, interactive white boards, projectors, document cameras, and basic robotics, is outlined. All of these technology tools were reviewed for their effectiveness with students in improving student achievement. This chapter will culminate with a review of literature on using handheld devices in classrooms and how they can be used to increase student achievement in all academic areas, but in phonemic awareness specifically.

All of these components of learning can help integrate handheld devices in the Kindergarten classroom to assist with phonemic awareness. Although current literature includes studies on phonemic awareness practices and technology used in literature instruction, it does not address handheld computers in classrooms for phonemic awareness instruction. No current research was found to address handheld computers in Kindergarten classrooms as the technology relates to the improvement of phonemic awareness. No study has encompassed handheld computers in early childhood education classrooms or in the specific use of gaining a stronger knowledge of phonemic awareness. As such, this gap serves as the basis of this study.

This literature review includes four topics: phonemic awareness, technology used in literacy instruction, specific technology used in classrooms, and the use of handheld

computers in schools. The research gathered was limited in the areas of Kindergarten students using technology tools, like handheld devices. The research was limited to using technology to improve phonemic awareness, which is an essential skill for the development of stronger readers and also offers a well-balanced approach to technology use in early childhood learning environments.

#### **Research Strategy**

This chapter includes a review of best practices in phonemic awareness, including those presented in books, dissertations, and peer-reviewed journals. Online databases used for this research included *Questia* and *Sagepub* as tools for locating experts and websites with additional information. Online library research databases used included Walden University and University of Wyoming, more specifically *Academic Search Premier*, *ERIC*, and *EBSCO*. Other resources were collected from the professional development resource libraries within both rural school districts.

Online search parameters included combinations of the following search terms for phonemic awareness: phonemic awareness fluency, phonemic awareness, phonemic awareness skills, phonics, phonemic awareness lessons, phonemic awareness activities, phonemic awareness research, phonemic awareness assessments, early childhood literacy, International Reading Association (IRA), best practices and literacy, Kindergarten literacy, literacy, early childhood literacy, early childhood literature, and National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC). Search terms used for technology integration included technology and Kindergarten, technology and early childhood, technology and elementary schools, technology integration, technology and

education, International Society of Technology in Education (ISTE), e-Books, interactive boards, robotics, robots and education, digital cameras, document cameras, video cameras, interactive white boards, Promethean, Promethean boards, and SMART boards. Search terms used to locate information on handheld devices included handhelds, handheld computers, handheld devices, handhelds and education, handhelds and elementary schools, handhelds and K-12, Special Interest Group: handheld computers, handheld computers, palms, palm units, handhelds and Kindergarten mixed-methods, mixed-methods study, and mixed-methods sequential.

Over 250 books, chapters, research articles, dissertations, and articles were reviewed, including some foundational theory texts and many studies published from 2005-2009. Literature was reviewed for information that included best practices in phonemic awareness and technology integration, specifically in Kindergarten and the early childhood years. The articles and other documents chosen included those that related to the dissertation topic, best practices in phonemic awareness and literacy, technologies used in education, how handheld devices have been used in education, and Kindergarten best practices. This focus limited the search to about fifty research articles and literature pieces.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

The theoretical foundation for this study includes the theories of childhood learning developed by Dewey (1938) and Montessori (1965). These theories were chosen to explain solutions for ensuring that a classroom is ready for learning by all students at the early childhood level. They have had an impact on education through

their explanation of how young children think and act, how educators can be more effective with these students, and how to interpret and understand the individual needs of students at this level. Environment, heredity, society, and culture all mold children as they develop into adulthood and educators struggle with how to teach all children. In order to explain these theories better, a review of the work is outlined.

#### **John Dewey**

Dewey (1938) is best known for his role in the progressive educational movement, which based teaching in real-life experiences and recommended that teachers encourage critical thinking and experimental learning at all levels of instruction. Dewey believed that teachers must trust their knowledge and experiences and, by using both, provide appropriate lessons and activities to nurture children as they learn curriculum and life skills. He trusted that teacher observation was the key to learning how to create a curriculum that best fits students and their learning styles.

Learning in both society and the classroom must be based upon experience; actual life experiences and hands-on application will allow learners to achieve more (Dewey, 1938). Educators today agree that the educational system is sound and strives to look at the needs of the whole student. Dewey (1938) believed that schools and other educational institutions must either move backward and continue to educate students on intellectual and social standards as has always happened, or they must grasp the future and begin to educate students for a scientific world. This scientific world shall encompass a greater utilization of the scientific process and methods, allow for change and growth, and expand the experiences of students at all levels.

Dewey (1938) suggested that the only failures to moving forward in education are not having experienced growth and change, not having taken the chance to learn from new experiences, and having embraced scientific concepts. Dewey suggested that, although change involved dedication, it would reward the risk taker with progressive results. Dewey (1938) did not want leaders of education to view these concepts as the new versus the old or progressive versus traditional, but instead to question what is worthy of education and the future of children. Students will gain new experiences using technology that links to the real world and to scientific concepts by using handheld devices in the Kindergarten classroom to improve phonemic awareness. Hands-on learning could allow students to become proficient with the curriculum and use their constructivist approaches to learning, using higher-level thinking, problem solving, and cooperation.

#### Maria Montessori

Montessori (1965) used her observation of children to determine their needs and discovered adults' interpretations and applications of developmental education programs were the greatest challenge to education. Montessori sought to understand why adults provided inappropriate approaches and environments for learning and socialization and why these ineffective instructional designs presented to young children. Children had a need for furniture their own size and tools to fit their hands and they needed to work independently while exploring their surroundings in efforts to gain useful knowledge.

Montessori (1965) claimed that language and other life skills were learned from the environment where young children spent time and some skill development depended on influences from adults and classmates with whom they spent their time. Montessori claimed that children learned best from sensory experiences and, as a result of her research, she created opportunities and theories that tasked teachers with the responsibility of developing learning environments with wonderful sights, textures, sounds, and smells within classrooms.

Montessori (1965) developed the premise that all children could learn. If children were not learning, according to Montessori, the adults were not listening carefully or watching closely enough to determine the needs of the child. The way to educate a child, according to Montessori, was to get to know them well through observation and reflection on the actions of children as they learned, in addition to development of ideas, and understanding of the instructional needs of children. Realizing that children could not always understand new material challenged educators; however, observation and reflection gave educators much more information about their students' individual learning needs (as cited in Mooney, 2000). Montessori maintained that reflections about observations made in educators' classrooms added to the opportunity to understand the educational, social, and emotional needs of a child and learning that must happen early in the lives of students of this age.

Montessori (1965) observed young children to determine their needs. She believed that tools needed to fit the child because of their little hands. She also believed that students learned best through their learning environment and senses, through the integration of visual, auditory, and textile learning into lessons and skill development. Together, these components stimulate students' powers of observation, recognition,

judgment, and classification. She often made use of self-correcting learning tools, which she called "teaching machines," to teach early childhood students through basic hands on activities.

Montessori believed that young students needed little tools to help them socially and academically negotiate school successfully. The use of handheld devices, which are the perfect size for small children, are much easier for them to use in their learning environments. She also believed that students learned best through their learning environment and senses, which handheld computers can also allow through the integration of touch, sight, and sound into every lesson and skill development.

The Terrapin Logo Bee-Bot handheld device can allow students to work socially together while learning, to correct themselves when faced with a problem, and offer them a way to learn to use their sensory tools. The handheld device offered sounds to feed their auditory needs. Directions from the teacher and interaction with peers facilitate social proficiency, too. The small handheld "bug" device fits into the hands of most students, allowing them to use something created for their size bodies. This handheld device provides students with a textile and hands-on approach to learning. Finally, the visual nature of the handheld device in action during phonemic awareness lessons may give students a better understanding of the materials learned.

## **Phonemic Awareness**

Musti-Rao and Cartledge (2007) supported the premise that reading is one of the most researched topics in education. Lane, Menzies, Munton, VonDuering, and English (2005) showed that nearly 40% of fourth graders in the United States has a reading level

of below basic comprehension leaving educators with the task of preparing for interventions as a preventive approach. Snow, Burns, and Griffin (1998) concluded that students who do not read with moderate success by the end of third grade have a higher risk of dropping out of school and never graduating (as cited in Marston et al., 2007). These studies had similar findings and concluded that early intervention needs to be explicit, intensive, and systematic in nature with the first step of beginning a program being the focus on development of phonemic awareness skills.

Research has shown that one in every five students has a reading difficulty and that fact along with the limited opportunities available for reading interventions has created an educational gap that must be bridged (as cited in Marston et al., 2007). Students who are not on grade level by the end of third grade will struggle throughout their educational careers. To avoid this deficiency in reading skills administrators consulted with teachers, parents, and support staff in a joint effort to adopt educational programs and interventions to assist struggling readers. This cooperative approach to curriculum development strengthens the programs used to teach phonemic awareness and other literacy skills, which also allows students to learn to read at a much faster rate and reach reading milestones on time.

## Letter and Sound Correspondence and Phonological Awareness

According to a study by Oudeans (2003), the integration of letter sounds and phonological blending, as well as segmenting, is a critical first component in learning to read. A review of Kindergarten interventions supports the implementation of these two areas, but does not show enough evidence of when and how they are best integrated into

the curriculum. In Oudean's study, two paths for integrating and teaching letter-sound correspondence and phonological blending and segmenting were compared to determine which method resulted in the highest student achievement. Fifty-five students were randomly assigned to two instructional conditions: (a) parallel, integrated (PI) or (b) parallel, non-integrated (PN-I) sequence.

Oudeans (2003) explained that the post test results indicated that initial segmentation skills explained only 7% of the variance for the PI group and 36% of the variance for the PN-I group on segmentation fluency measures. Students in the PI group performed reliably higher on word reading generalization at post test and maintenance, and the rate of change in the growth trajectory for letter-sound fluency was greater for the PI group too. Interestingly enough the research found that the PI group seemed to begin to close the gap in phonemic segmentation between students with low-segmentation skills and those with adequate skills by posttest.

Richards, Leafstedt, and Gerber (2006) completed an in-depth micro genetic methodology (change as it is occurring) study of four Kindergarten students. These students were provided with 10 weeks of explicit phonemic awareness activities to work towards increased academic performance in reading. The researchers collected three types of data during their study related to fluency, strategies used to perform phonological awareness tasks, and students' number of responses during reading instruction. The combination of data collected allowed for both qualitative and quantitative examination.

The four students who were included in the study were pre-selected from a class of nineteen students and these same students were ranked the lowest in reading as determined by the Woodcock-Johnson assessment (Richards et al., 2006). The students in this study resided in a semi-rural community with predominately Spanish-speaking families. The school was a Title 1 school that was scored a "1," which is the lowest performance score awarded to schools in the state. The Kindergarten students were half time, attended 3 ½ days per week and were instructed in English, with some Spanish supplemental assistance by the staff.

The study included a pretest, a midterm test and a post-test to determine the growth of the students during the ten weeks, measuring fluency and reading strategies (Richards et al., 2006). The assessment focused on the phonological awareness, specifically to onset-rime, blending, and segmentation, and the classroom teachers confirmed the scores as accurate. Three of the four students reached the DIBELS benchmark for Kindergarten by mid-year in both nonsense word fluency and segmentation fluency. The scores for the onset-rime indicated that three of the students reached the R2 level, but did not use their strategies consistently and resorted back to level R1 skills. Similar results were found for segmentation, showing that three of the students could reach a higher level, but were not consistent.

In the mixed-model study by Fien, et al. (2008) the researchers indicated that over 90% of the 1,600 school districts and 5,283 schools in the United States that have implemented the program Reading First, which uses oral fluency (ORF) to screen students for reading difficulty and assists with the monitoring of progress over time,

providing information for interventions and additional support. The use of ORF has a great impact on the RTI (Right to Intervention) models that many schools are beginning to use to increase student achievement, predominately in literacy. Fien, et al. (2008) indicated that interventions are most effective in the early years to ensure that students are successful and research clearly shows that in both regular education and special education ORF is used to measure and monitor reading levels, but there is limited research to show that this type of measure is used nationwide with one specific program, such as Reading First.

Three objectives guided the study by Fien, et al. (2008) and they included the investigation between ORF and specific high-stakes reading assessments for Reading First; the second objective was to examine whether slope or ORF predicted performance on specific high-stakes reading tests over and above initial level of ORF performance alone; and the final was to test how well various models that included ORF and performance on high-stakes assessments predicted models performance on the reading comprehension portion.

The study included 34 Oregon schools that used Reading First and met the predetermined criteria for student poverty and low-reading scores, located in 16 independent school districts representing most of the state (Fien et al., 2008). The schools were divided with a mix of urban and rural areas. The students in these schools were divided into sub categories showing that 10% were receiving Special Education, 34% were receiving English as a Second Language (ESL) services, and of the ESL students, 68% were Latino, while the others were of the Asian cultures. The data were

collected for just over two years, and the results indicated that on the ORF there was an increase in each measurement point and across the entire year (Fien et al., 2008). The results did show that from the end of one grade level to the next (over the summer) that there was a drop in performance, and this was attributed to the span of time without exposure to direct reading instructions and to the increase in difficulty of the reading materials at the new grade level. The results show that with growth over time teachers and students must continue to work on skills in order to ensure growth at the proficiency level or above, technology can help with this process especially over the summer break.

Phonemic awareness interventions. In a quasi-experimental study by Powers and Price-Johnson (2006), 15 schools in Tucson, Arizona district were studied to determine the effectiveness of the Title 1 reading program with Kindergarten students. Title 1 of the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, formerly known as ECIA, ESEA or Chapter 1, is the largest federally funded educational program (Department of Education, 2009). This program provides supplemental funds to school districts to assist schools with the highest student concentrations of poverty to meet school educational goals in reading, math, and language arts, but the highest concentration of grade level deficits is found in reading. The intervention used with these Kindergarten students was the Waterford Early Reading Program (WERP), a technology-based program for early elementary grades. The measurement tool used was the Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS), and it reviewed the effectiveness of the reading curriculum, this intervention, and all supplemental materials used to measure phonemic awareness.

This study concluded that the groups using the technology based WERP program significantly out outperformed the other groups in all areas and in each instance of testing (Powers & Price-Johnson, 2006). These WERP students scored higher than the non-WERP students in all sub-categories including gender, economics, ethnicity, and home language. There were 740 students in the WERP group and 1480 in the traditional group. The study ran over a 6 month period of time, and although there was an increase in all groups between the pre and post tests the WERP group showed significantly higher results indicating that the computer based program served as a beneficial tool for teaching phonemic awareness to Kindergarten students.

In a longitudinal study by Nancollis, Lawry, and Dodd (2005) two groups of children in the United Kingdom were studied. One group received an intervention for phonemic awareness and one group did not. The study reviewed the effects of a phonological awareness intervention focused on syllable and rhyme awareness on the acquisition of literacy and the development of phonological awareness skills. The intervention group included 99 children using the program for nine weeks in their summer session of the final year of preschool. Nancollis, et al. concluded that the intervention group did much better on the phonological awareness intervention receiving higher scores on rhyme awareness and non-word spelling. The research did deliver a surprise in the results for non-intervention group that showed higher scores in the area of phoneme segmentation. It was also concluded that the intervention had no lasting results on the later literacy development of these students.

In a mixed study by Marston, et al. (2007), a total of 324 Kindergarten and first-grade students were studied in four elementary schools. The purpose of the study was to examine curriculum-based measures of early literacy and the utility of these measures in a problem-solving model (PSM). Within the response to the intervention model student data were collected often during the implementation of instructional interventions and the intensity of the interventions increased as a function of the students' non-response to previous interventions and classroom instruction.

The study by Marston, et al. (2007), reviewed phonemic awareness, onset phoneme identification and phoneme segmentation, over a four-month period of time. The results showed over the four months that students showed an increase in assessment scores in all areas. The results showed an increase in assessment scores with general-education students, special education students, and English Language Learners (ELL). The special education students showed less growth than the general education and the ELL students. Further the study indicated that most reading difficulties can be prevented, with the right interventions and monitoring; however, in most traditional approaches reading is monitored infrequently, sometimes only once a year. Therefore, early literacy assessment within a problem-solving framework has the best chance of improving overall student achievement and reducing the number of students with significant reading problems, before third grade when it becomes extremely difficult to bring them back to grade level.

The purpose of a study by Flanigan (2007) was to examine a model of early reading acquisition on the concept of word in the text, which is an area that is seldom

researched and reviewed by educators. The skill of understanding a word in text is an important early reading acquisition skill that bridges phonemic awareness with a more sophisticated level of phonological awareness. Decades of research have been collected on phonemic awareness and several studies indicate that if reading levels are not strong by third grade, and then the student would struggle with reading and writing throughout their education and their life.

This study included 56 Kindergarten students who were assessed on measures of beginning consonant awareness, concept of the word in text, full phoneme segmentation ability, spelling ability and word recognition ability. The study made use of a balanced literacy approach, instruction that incorporates the teaching of both specific skills such as phonemic awareness and phonics, and the application of these skills in meaningful contexts. Two Kindergarten teachers provided systematic instruction in phonological awareness and letter—sound relations in the whole group, small group, and individual settings. The teachers made use of morning messages, interactive writing, shared reading, read-aloud, along with multiple opportunities to write, draw stories and respond to literature, all traditional parts of a balanced literacy program.

The study concluded that no student had mastered the skill of concept of the word in the text without having first mastered beginning consonant awareness. Most significant to this study was the finding that no student was able to segment a single syllable consonant—vowel—consonant (CVC) word into its three constituent phonemes without having already mastered a concept of word in text. In other words, it appears that a child's concept of word in text is an important bridging skill that allows beginning

readers to orchestrate their knowledge of the alphabet, beginning consonants, and letter sounds to gain an initial foothold into contextual reading (Flanigan, 2007).

The purpose of a study by Menzies, Mahdavi, and Lewis (2008) was to examine best practices from research to the integration in the classroom in an effort to improve reading at an early age. According to Menzies, Mahdavi, and Lewis there has been limited success with the actual practice of teaching phonemic awareness and raising student achievement. The researchers indicated to determine a solution that works best for students that this problem could be divided into two sections. The first obstacle described was to ensure that teachers were aware of the use of research-based best practices and the second was to determine a way to sustain the use of the adopted practices and let them run the course to prove the effectiveness of instruction.

The study involved 42 first-grade students in a small elementary school, in an urban area of Southern California, (Menzies, Mahdavi, & Lewis, 2008). Each of the school's first-grade classes, their classroom teacher, four paraprofessionals, a special education teacher, a literacy coach with background in special education, and a primary researcher participated in this study. The school's student population was 78% free or reduced lunch, had English language learners (ELL), and poor parental support at home and there was a high transient population.

The first intervention added more frequent assessments to determine individual needs and to monitor student progress throughout reading lessons (Menzies, Mahdavi, & Lewis, 2008). The second intervention was to ensure students would reach grade-level proficiency by the end of the given school year by making use of small-group instruction

with more intensity and structure. Title 1 funding allowing students to meet with educators Monday through Friday, for 45 minutes for as long as needed provided the additional resources and paraprofessional time. During each session students listened to a rhyming story, daily lessons on phonics, and a read along with the teacher. Blending, segmenting, rhyming, comparing, and fluency were key areas for student work.

The researcher concluded that 90% of the students reached grade-level proficiency by the end of the school year. There was also an increase with 8 of the 16 students identified as at-risk where students showed grade-level or advanced status on the final assessments. The students who did not meet grade-level proficiencies were faced with factors far more than the other students, but each one showed growth overall. The challenges the teachers faced related to the fact that the data from the DIBELS assessment were not always conclusive enough to base instruction upon making it difficult for teachers to plan individual learning goals.

In a recent study by Lane, Fletcher, Carter, Dejud and DeLorenzo (2007) a paraprofessional-led intervention program for first-grade students with poor early literacy skills and behavior problems were studied to determine efficacy. The goals of the study were to determine if the brief intervention could improve academic skills, behavior, and social skills of the students.

The study included 24 first-grade students, 18 boys and 6 girls, who were nominated by classroom teachers because of their low academic levels in literacy and who displayed both poor social skills and had behavior problems in school (Lane, et al., 2007). The study was conducted with the help of three fully certified general education

teachers and one paraprofessional located in a suburban elementary school, in a southwestern state. The teachers had 2 to 10 years of teaching experience, and the paraprofessional was a high-school graduate who had some college experience and had been with the school for 5 years.

According to Lane, et al. (2007) the teacher's responsibilities for this study included (a) identifying potential student participants using a systematic screening procedure, (b) participating in assessment procedures at three time points, (c) attending a 2-hour training to learn the intervention procedures, (d) allowing students to participate in the intervention during the instructional day, (e) evaluating social validity at the conclusion of the study, and (f) conducting the intervention with the delayed-treatment control group in the spring of the same academic year. The paraprofessionals' responsibilities included (a) learning the intervention and reviewing behavior management strategies, as well as 30-minute trainings on a weekly basis over the course of the study; (b) conducting the intervention with two groups as part of their regular duties; (c) allowing university research students to observe the sessions to collect treatment integrity data; and (d) evaluating social validity at the conclusion of the study.

The study concluded that the treatment group scored significantly higher on the chosen assessment than the control group (Lane et al., 2007). The results of the same assessment with respect to social skills and behavior were insignificant. There was actually a small increase in behavior problems with the group receiving interventions. Overall the researchers concluded that the intervention program was moderately successful and although it helped with academics it did not help with behaviors and,

therefore, should not be used for anything other than academics. Further studies need to take place to determine appropriate interventions for behavior problems.

In the experimental and longitudinal study by Otaiba and Fuchs (2006) the researchers set out to identify student characteristics that reliably predict responsiveness and nonresponsiveness of general interventions. The study included 104 children, including 7 with special needs and Individualized Education Programs (IEP's) and who were tested in Kindergarten and first grade. The responsiveness and nonresponsiveness to generally effective early learning interventions was determined after a 2 year study where students participated in best practice instruction in both Kindergarten and first grade, first grade only, Kindergarten only and in neither year. This met three groups, those that were responsive, those that were sometimes responsive and those that were nonresponsive.

This facilitated the study of three groups: Always responsive students that met responsiveness criteria in both years; Sometimes responsive students that met the criteria in only one year; and Nonresponsive students who did not meet the criteria in either year (Otaiba & Fuchs, 2006). Multivariate analysis of variance and discriminate function analysis indicated that the three groups were reliably different from one another on measures of problem behavior, verbal memory, sentence imitation, syntactic awareness, vocabulary, naming speed segmentation.

The research study included a combination of naming speed, vocabulary, sentence imitation, problem behavior, and amount of intervention correctly predicted 82.1% of nonresponsive students, 30.0% of sometimes-responsive students, and 84.1% of always-

responsive students (Otaiba & Fuchs, 2006). Approximately fifty students from Kindergarten and first grade were tested again at the end of what should have been their third-grade year and the results showed that all but 1 of the nonresponsive students who received intervention had been identified as requiring special education and had an IEP with reading goals.

In all of these studies the researchers determined that interventions and additional assistance in phonemic awareness are needed in order for students to succeed and become good readers and communicators. Interventions can come in several different types of tools and methods, one being a program using technology. Many educators rely on the computer for interventions with programs like Headsprout (2009), Lexia (2009), and Read Naturally (2009), but other types of technology may be just as effective. Handheld devices may provide mobile learning for young students and provide a familiar setting since they are similar to handheld gaming devices currently used by many students.

Further evidence found in current research indicated that early childhood students acquire the skill of phonological awareness by beginning with initial sounds and rhyming, and continuing with the development of an awareness of alliteration, syllabication, and intonation (Goswami & Bryant, 1990). Students began with word decoding or deciphering and once that skill was mastered they moved toward learning the skills needed to build reading comprehension. As a result, phonological awareness has become a widely used predictor of the speed and efficiency of reading acquisition and research links individual differences in phonological awareness to the acquisition of reading skills (Bus, 1999). Students who gain these skills are able to decode words better

and, in turn, read at a higher level with more comprehension, making phonemic awareness a strong indicator for early reading acquisition.

Foorman, York, Santi, and Francis (2008) conducted a study that utilized early reading assessment data from a randomized trial of 210 urban and rural schools across Texas. The study examined contextual effects on risk prediction in first and second grade. The main focus was to examine roles of (a) individual differences, (b) the grade 1 classroom, and (c) the pairing of first and second grade teachers in determining grade 2 outcomes in word reading and fluency. An underpinning to this was to investigate whether the administrative format of the assessment (paper, paper plus desktop, handheld plus desktop) or the level of the teacher support (web mentoring, no mentoring) moderated the prediction.

The study found that there was a correlation between the pretest and the mean for the pretest that was a much better indicator than just the pretest (Otaiba and Fuchs, 2006). The student scores varied by teacher-pair and on average interclass correlations ranged from 6% to 17%. The differences in the infraclass, at the classroom level were much greater than at the school level, and differences in urban schools were twice that or rural schools.

All of the research studies in phonemic awareness reported that early intervention is key to early literacy and that phonemic awareness is a key component to learning to read. Flanigan (2007) was key in reporting that there are decades of research on phonemic awareness and that in all these findings the reports indicated that early reading acquisition is key to comprehension and communication later on in life. Menzies et al.

(2008) showed that best practices and research-based curriculum are key to providing phonemic awareness lessons to Kindergarten students.

All of the research studies were consistent with best practices for phonemic awareness lessons and with interventions and monitoring of students to ensure success, but the Forman at al. (2008) study discussed the review of data from assessments to determine how to pair up students to provide interventions. The grouping of students was the focus, not so much the actual learning and intervention delivery. Educators determine what is best for the students instead of students taking the lead in their own learning.

All of these studies included best practices, but none of them focused on using technology or other tools to provide lessons to students in an effort to raise student achievement. There is a clear gap in research where the best practice of using 21<sup>st</sup> century learning tools are missing, and research of using handheld devices in Kindergarten classrooms to raise student achievement in phonemic awareness will fill this gap.

Phonemic awareness with technology. In order to prepare students for both formal education and the real-world teachers must recognize the impact technology has on literacy instruction (Morrow, Barnhart, & Rooyakkers, 2002). Research findings suggested that the technology, used as a tool, has been shown to enhance reading, writing and language arts, which are the focus of education and the foundations of reading success. The demands for early literacy must be addressed as early as possible to ensure success of all students (Morrow et al., 2002). They believed that another benefit to education was to use computers to provide individual reinforcement of skills allowing

adjustable levels of difficulty and giving students ownership or their own learning and computer skills.

In order to ensure that technology is successful for students and provides quality-learning experiences, educators must participate in professional development. This ensures the effective use and trouble shooting of the software and technology tools (Morrow et al., 2002). Traditional areas used with early childhood students include word processing programs, educational software and websites with specific phonemic awareness and fluency skills, and equipment used for writing such as scanners, printers, and digital cameras. An additional factor for teachers is the frequency of use by students and how the tools are used.

Teaching is becoming harder because of the individual needs of each student and the lack of adequate funding to reduce class size and provide the best materials possible, including technology tools (May, 2003). Reading and technology tend to be priorities in schools as educators integrate the two to meet student needs. Teachers work toward reaching all students, meeting the standards and preparing students for state assessments and making reading enjoyable.

A program like Kidspiration (2009) is an easy to use software program that helps students create story webs and other types of brainstorming activities that will increase writing and reading fluency (May, 2003). Another widely used and researched program is Timeliner (2008), which allows students to create timelines and other kinds of sequencing charts. There are also a variety of researched web sites that offer stories for children to read and then participate in activities or take quizzes to determine their

comprehension of the story. Many classrooms use digital cameras and printers to create literacy projects that show their assessment for learning and begin to raise student achievement through the additional motivation to learn and practice.

According to Lacina (2006) children are exposed to technology at a very early age and begin to comprehend how it works, making it an important component of literacy and labeling them telecommunication literate. Telecommunication literate means that the child cannot only operate a computer but they can also locate and analyze multiple forms of information. Educators must now begin to ensure that all students are proficient in advanced technologies, no longer settling for the basics and no longer just teaching them to read paperback books and write essays, instead they must learn to communicate with text messaging and able to navigate through web sites, computer language, and electronic communications.

Children are learning at an earlier age and growing up in the 21st century requires them to know how to communicate with computers, knowing how they work and how to use them for a variety of measures as is suggested in the Lacina (2006) study. In other situations younger students made use of digital cameras and software programs help them with literacy (May 2003). These research studies, although full of technology and young students, do not show a strong connection between technology and higher student achievement scores in phonemic awareness. This study will fill this gap in research.

## **Technology Used in Schools: Kindergarten Literacy**

Giles (2006) reported that educators could no longer ignore the fact that we all live in a digital age and that technology has permeated every aspect of our daily lives.

Students are exposed to cell phones, DVD players, video games, computers, digital cameras, and iPods on a daily basis. In order to make use of this "real-world" knowledge educators can discover ways to use these technology tools, and others like them, in the classroom, to make learning fun and to raise student achievement levels.

Strommen and Lincoln (2009) suggested that in order to develop a view of the revolution that technology is creating in education careful consideration of how technology has revolutionized American culture is necessary. In addition, research into and development of a deeper understanding of how technologic developments have left many teachers with a profound sense of needing to "catch-up" in both their learning and teaching with the ever-advancing technologies available is essential. In less than twenty years technology has formed a path into every area of society including social and cultural lives. Although this is significant, even more meaningful is how technology has brought change to the instructional program designs and teaching and learning that young children experience.

Children have grown up with electronic devices like remote controls; they watch more television and play more video games than they read and play and they see cellular phones as a common practice for communication, not for the talking abilities only, but also for the text messaging (Strommen & Lincoln, 2009). Even the toys today include technology to create sound, lights and movements and computer-based machines have entered almost every aspect of business. Students are now living in a world with instant access to information, and they must be taught not only how to use the ever-changing technology but also how to incorporate it into the learning process. However, even more

important than the training in use of technology, a critical understanding that both students and teachers must come to is learning to verify sources of instant information so that credibility and integrity of information is not misinterpreted, or worse, failed to be considered as an integral evaluative point in the process of learning early research skills.

According to the International Reading Association (IRA, 2002), the Internet and other forms of information and communication technology (ICT), such as word processors, Web editors, presentation software, and e-mail are regularly redefining the nature of literacy, in the United States and around the world. To become fully literate in the 21<sup>st</sup> century students must become proficient in the new forms of literacy presented in ICT and instruction should begin in early childhood education.

Reading instruction settings and interventions are natural places and processes in which provide exposure to the use of a diverse array of technology. Technology is a form of communication and parallels the literacy concepts, when provided appropriately. NAEYC (2009) indicated that educators must take responsibility for influence events that are transforming the daily lives of all children and their families. According to NAEYC this statement addresses several issues related to technology's use with young children:

(a) the essential role of the teacher in evaluating appropriate uses of technology; (b) the potential benefits of appropriate use of technology in early childhood programs; (c) the integration of technology into the typical learning environment; (d) equitable access to technology, including children with special needs; (e) stereotyping and violence in software; (f) the role of teachers and parents as advocates; and (g) the implications of technology for professional development.

Technology is another "tool" to use to deliver reading instruction and to provide creativity to students during learning time (Davis, 2008). Technology can never take the place of an educator; educators must understand that human interactivity factor is essential in educating young learners via modeling and educators must plan lessons accordingly.

The NAEYC statement addresses several issues related to technology's use with young children: (a) the essential role of the teacher in evaluating appropriate uses of technology; (b) the potential benefits of appropriate use of technology in early childhood programs; (c) the integration of technology into the typical learning environment; (d) equitable access to technology, including children with special needs; (e) stereotyping and violence in software; (f) the role of teachers and parents as advocates; and (g) the implications of technology for professional development.

To support what NAEYC recommends school districts must ensure that educators are given professional development on using technologies with their curriculum and teaching students' new skills (IRA, 2002). Pre-service teachers should also be provided with knowledge of new technologies and how to teach children to use them. Some such technologies that are in many classrooms include interactive boards such as those called the SMART boards, Promethean Activboards and STAR boards, document cameras, classrooms computers equipped with educational software and Internet based programs, iPods and digital cameras. These technologies tools can be used to teach children in all curriculum areas, including physical education, music, and art.

Villano (2007) reported that anything that can be played on a handheld computer

has instructional potential and over time will raise student achievement. In southwest Delaware, the Seaford School District is supporting the teaching of reading and writing skills to its early-elementary students with "sight word" mini-movies that K12 Handhelds (2009) created for the district. Students in Kindergarten through second grade to practice recognizing and reading words use these videos. A word is shown, read aloud, and used in a sentence with an accompanying picture. The words are then shown with no audio, giving students an opportunity to practice reading independently.

Jim White, Seaford's technology integration specialist, reported to Villano (2007) that the handheld implementation program began in 2002 as a trial in a handful of Kindergarten classes. The results were astounding, and after the teachers had reported high student achievement gains, the school went out and secured a total of more than \$150,000 in funding to expand the program to every school in the district. The district felt that this was another tool for the teacher's toolbox and one that motivates the students in a new way. Each school has at least a set of 30 units, while some have two sets and the K-2 teachers share them to ensure the maximum usage by students. Todd Fishburn, an associate principal at one of the elementary schools was quoted by saying, "Our philosophy is that if handhelds changed this much of the educational experience for us, they've got to be able to have a similar impact for other districts, too. The best way to learn about this stuff is from your peers." The Villano (2007) study explained how handheld devices were used to increase student achievement for student, even at the Kindergarten level, to enhance reading through auditory recordings of vocabulary words. This shows that in at least one study handheld devices are being used in Kindergarten

classrooms, but it does not who that they are used in phonemic awareness, which is one of the first steps in beginning reading according to the IRA (2002). The research creates a gap in how the devices are used in Kindergarten for the most effective outcome in literacy.

## Research on Technology in Kindergarten: Digital Cameras.

In the qualitative study by Ching, Wang, Shih and Kedem (2006) the researchers investigated the use of digital photography journals to support both social and cognitive growth in Kindergarten and first grade students. The students used digital cameras to record their daily schedule and the experiences they had with each lesson and activity. Student created journals, field notes, and video clips were used to determine the outcome of the research study. A total of twenty-five students were the subjects of a university-affiliated research project on technology and early grade instruction at a school in a Midwest town. The students shared a digital camera causing them to take turns and cooperate to complete the project.

The results showed two areas of technology integration: picture taking and journal creation (Ching, et al., 2006). The students' jobs included both their role being photographers and subjects of photos by fellow students, showing clear proficiency with the use of the camera and in helping their peers achieve their goals. Over time the student's focus in their pictures changed from general to more specific as the students realized they could zoom in and out and they began to focus their attention on very specific items and subjects.

The students had appeared to engage each other in what appeared to be a pleasant time creating the photo journals and learning a great deal about using the computer programs and cameras offering them another new skill set for their future with technology and the real world (Ching, et al., 2006). The collections were diverse in the way that students presented their work and used the layout to display it. Notes revealed that the girls centered their work around a few close friends, while the boys centered their work on several objects.

Ching, et al., (2006) research indicated that the digital photo journal project was effective in facilitating the integration of technology into the physical spaces and social fabric of the classroom. The project provided students with an opportunity to reflect on their environment and social networks in conversation with and a teacher or teaching assistant helping reach the proficiencies for communication and social skills too. In this section, we focus on several important issues related to technology integration in early childhood education. The researchers believed that this helped in showing promise that more technology can and should be used in early childhood classrooms as most are using them as a teacher tool and not as a student tool.

In a similar qualitative study by Boardman (2007), 29 Kindergarten teachers in Australia were studied to determine their perception of how well students could use digital cameras and voice recorders to capture essential components of early learning achievement. The study determined several interesting results that potentially could lead to this type of technology being used for assessment and record keeping of student

achievement. Students used the recorders to track conversations between peers and between teachers and students.

Boardman (2007) noted that two essential areas were mentioned and focused on by the teachers including student use to show reflective thinking and documentation of student progress for assessment and record-keeping purposes. The students experienced a few minor challenges when taking the photographs, the first being the identification of students when everyone was wearing the same type and color of hats in outside shots and the movement of subjects for those shots. It was also noted that the voice recordings used made note taking much simpler for teachers and researchers because trying to write down everything said by these young children was almost impossible.

Boardman (2007) found that with the use of the audio recorder there were some set backs or negative aspects, and the most mentionable was the sound quality because some children were soft spoken and it was hard to hear them on the playback. In other cases other children present in the area or background noise would have covered the sounds of the child being interviewed or listened to and this also contributed to lack of being able to hear the child being recorded.

In conclusion, it was determined that the use of digital photography and voice recordings were beneficial to the assessment of early age learners and one additional advantage identified, in the use of this technology, was the immediate ability for children to see themselves and receive feedback during their learning process (Boardman, 2007). It was made clear that the immediate feedback was also a motivator for the students. Students can also actively participate in the selection of the photos and audio that should

be included in journals or portfolios to show their best work and highlight proficiencies.

Parents gave informal feedback, and they showed positive intentions with their pleasure of seeing student work and hearing the progress being made in their child's learning.

Another form of technology used in the teaching of young learners is the use of robotics in the early learning settings. In a qualitative study, Rusk, Resnick, Berg and Pezalla-Granlund (2008) conducted research on the creation of new strategies for use of robotics to improve learning in the classroom. The researchers engaged students in four areas to determine if that robotics could be successfully used to enhance learning opportunities and they included: (a) focusing on themes, not just challenges; (b) combining art and engineering; (c) using story telling; and (d) hosting exhibitions instead of competition.

# Research on Technology in Kindergarten: Computers and Programs.

According to the work of Zevenbergen and Logan (2008) the world of most western children has undergone significant changes in the past several decades, significantly due to the invention and varied use of the computer. The use of computers and computer programs has not been significant in the early childhood classrooms and the research shows that most young children have had exposure to computers outside of formal education and need to be given the opportunities in school for the same experiences. Educators must change their thinking and allow these digital natives to use their talents to learn in and out of the classroom to provide them with much needed skills and to ensure a "real-world" experience. Prensky (2001) has written about the digital native and has argued that this generation has begun to think differently from other

generations (as cited in Zevenbergen and Logan, 2008). This generation is aware of the instant feedback that technology (TV remotes, microwaves, computers, and cell phones) can provide them, and the fast speed from action (click of mouse/button) to effect (the result of that click) means that young children process information quickly. There is a broad range of resources to assist students with their individual learning and growth both for entertainment and academics and multi-tasking has become second nature to most children and adults.

The actual research by Zevenbergen and Logan (2008) has sought to identify the amount of access and the ways in which young children used computers in the home. The researchers sought to find out how young children (four to five years) used computers, the skills they were developing, and links with home and formal learning environments. They undertook this through a survey in which parents reported their children's use of computers at home.

The parent survey was developed and implemented in a major regional area in Australia and the community has a socially, economically, and demographically diverse population of over 100,000 people (Zevenbergen & Logan, 2008). The survey asked about the amount of computer usage, the types of computer usage, the frequency of which children accessed the computer (where and for what purposes), and their individual skills. The results between girls and boys were compared to determine if there was a difference in use and types of use.

The results of the survey indicated that well over 87% of young children has significant access to computers in the high for a variety of purposes (Zevenbergen and

Logan, 2008). This suggests that most students come into the formal educational setting with schema (previous knowledge) of using computers and programs on them. Educators need to be cognitive of these results and ensure that they not only use computers in the classroom, but also strive to teach young students new skills. This creates a challenge for educators as they begin to determine ways to teach their students new skills.

Scott (2003) reminded educators that Kindergarten is, in most cases, the first formal year in a young child-learning career and caution must be taken to ensure a positive experience. The Kindergarten classrooms setup, procedures, and curriculum provide students with a balance of rigorous academic standards and appropriate developmental experiences, including technology usage. The typical Kindergarten student entering school does not come with reading-readiness skills or independent writing skills.

#### Research on Technology: Interactive Boards.

In the study by Preston and Mowbray (2008) the findings from classroom-based observations that the use of SMART Boards (and other interactive whiteboards) were beneficial to Kindergarten students in their science class. The SMART boards had been used to teach science for over 8 years and this type of learning has enhanced thinking skills and detailed observations. The SMART boards proved to be successful with enhancing learning, offering multiple opportunities to assess student progress, and offering a variety of ways to reach the digital native students of today.

Preston and Mowbray (2008) indicated that interactive whiteboards allowed students and teachers to perform a range of functions such as: (a) clicking on icons to

hear sound files; (b) working with a variety of multi-media files and activities; (c) viewing graphics, taking virtual tours, and watching simulations; (d) annotating with pen and highlighter tools over text and images (web sites, PDF files, word documents, and Power Points); (e) allowing student work to be saved for future viewing and use; and (f) allowing lessons to be engaging reaching all students.

Preston and Mowbray (2008) indicated that with the short attention span of Kindergarten students and the need to be actively involved in everything to ensure their learning the interactive board served as an educational tool that makes learning fun for teachers and students.

Few limitations were discovered during the study apart from the obvious ones such as the expense, and need for teachers to be educated on the use of and become comfortable teaching with them (Preston & Mowbray, 2008). Another problem noted was the fact that only one person at a time can use the interactive board, leaving the rest of the class to watch and that is something many of the Kindergarten students noted as a reason they don't like using the board.

In conclusion, this study found that the interactive whiteboard can enhance learning, but it must be used appropriately by teachers, which means professional development opportunities and practice outside of the teaching environment (Preston & Mowbray, 2008). It is also best to teach using interactive activities that were short, allowing all students to take a quick turn at the board.

In a 2009 quasi-experimental evaluation study Marzano looked at the effects of the Promethean ActivClassroom on student achievement. A pre-test and post-test design

was used to evaluate the process. During the 2008-2009 school year, 79 teachers from 50 schools throughout the country participated in the study to determine the effect of the Promethean (interactive whiteboard) on student achievement. The evaluation study involved 1,716 students in the treatment group and 1,622 students in the control group. In the treatment group the teachers used the Promethean boards to enhance their teaching practices and in the control group the teachers used traditional means of teaching and did not make use of the interactive boards.

According to Marzano (2009) the evaluation study attempted to answer the following questions through a meta-analysis of the independent treatment/control studies:

Question 1: What effect does Promethean ActivClassroom have on students' achievement regarding the subject matter content taught by their teachers?

Question 2: Does the effect of Promethean ActivClassroom differ between school levels?

Question 3: Does the effect of Promethean ActivClassroom differ between grade levels?

Question 4: Does the effect of Promethean ActivClassroom differ between academic content areas?

Question 5: Does the effect of Promethean ActivClassroom differ based on length of teaching experience?

Question 6: Does the effect of Promethean ActivClassroom differ based on how long the teacher has used the technology?

Question 7: Does the effect of Promethean ActivClassroom differ based on the

percentage of instructional time the technology is used in the classroom?

Question 8: Does the effect of Promethean ActivClassroom differ based on

teachers' confidence in their use of the technology? (p. 11)

The results were significant in most areas, but they were depended how the teacher

taught, and the teachers experiences and the way things had been presented to students.

The results indicated significant gains in student achievement when the following

conditions were in place:

A teacher had 10 or more years of teaching experience

A teacher had used the technology for two or more years

A teacher uses the technology between 75 and 80% of the time in his or her

classroom

A teacher has high confidence in his or her ability to use the technology.

Additionally, the findings noted that in the seventh-grade classrooms the achievement

was not as high and further studies would need to be conducted to determine the reasons.

Marzano (2009) noted that students could raise their student achievement levels

almost 30% if all the factors were in place, using the ActivClassroom setup by

Promethean. This is true for all grade levels K-12 and in all subject areas and can include

the interactive board, student response systems and create interactive flip charts, which

are interactive for student use at the board.

Research on Technology: Gaming.

Tomlinson (2003) reported that educators tend to shy away from gaming because of the perception that it is purely for entertainment or a time-filer when nothing else is planned, but not for academics. Word games on Personal Digital Assistant (PDA) or game systems like PSP (PlayStation Portable) and Nintendo Game Boy allow learning to continue outside of the classroom walls, because students can take their devices with them wherever they go and in many cases these devices are also inexpensive. In addition, word games can create an incentive for learning language skills, especially for students who find it hard to focus over a long period of time.

Some of the areas enhanced through the use of well-developed PDA games, according to Tomlinson's research (2003) included:

- 1. Concentration and attention span
- 2. Memory skills
- 3. Hand-eye coordination
- 4. Reading skills
- 5. Writing skills (learning to write in the "Graffiti" style for handhelds requires considerable care for accurate letter recognition)
- 6. Vocabulary and numeracy
- 7. Confidence (appropriate feedback in games can be a great confidence boost)

Students varied in their learning styles and educators adjusted their teaching to what works for students and also meets the changing needs of the real world. Teachers are encouraged to have a variety of teaching methods and tools available at all times.

Research on technology: robotics. Beals and Bers (2006) completed a study on robotics in the early childhood classroom, and they mentioned parental support being important with young children. The researchers mentioned that it had been no secret that new technologies have made their way into the classrooms, however, many families have exposed their young children to these tools before they ever entered the traditional school setting. The parents have been the first teachers of technological literacy to their children, as they learn along side their children.

In the Beals and Bers (2006) study 17 parent-child partnerships and 20 individual children were taught to use programmable Lego (2009) bricks to create their own meaningful projects involving both programming and building, during a five weekend long study. In the study, a significant difference was found between building and programming aspects of the projects between the individual projects and the partnership projects. Beals and Bers suggested that Vygotsky's idea of proximal development played an important role in this study, but it was argued that the children in the partnership groups did not learn as much as the children in the individual groups, as the parents were too involved in their own learning and did not tailor their instruction at a level appropriate for the children to understand and retain the information.

Beals and Bers (2006) entitled the study "Project Inter-Actions," and it was developed with three major educational philosophies and concepts in mind: (a) philosophy of constructionism, (b) the concept of the zone of proximal development, and (c) the concept of peer learning environments. Papert (1980) was credited with developing the idea of constructionism, based on Piaget's theory of constructivism (as

cited in Beals & Bers, 2006). Following Piaget's ideas on cognitive development, the students who participated in this research were expected to be in the pre-operational stage, which was marked by the development of symbolic symbols, including speech, or the concrete operational stage. The adults were expected to be in the formal operational stage, identified by the development of hypothetical and abstract thought.

Beal and Bers (2006) discussed the concept of the zone of proximal development (ZPD), which has been extremely influential in both child development research and educational research for years. Vygotsky (1978) defined the ZPD as "the distance between the actual developmental level as determined by independent problem solving and the level of potential development as determined through problem solving under adult guidance or with more capable peers" (as cited in Beal & Bers, 2006).

The idea of the ZPD was important for research and Project Inter-Actions, as each participant brought various skills to the workshop, even though the technology itself was new to most participants (Beal & Bers, 2006). The research did not take into consideration the differences in age and skill levels, but looked at the projects themselves and how the children created them (individual or in a partnership with a parent). The students naturally formed a peer-learning environment and this helped with the achievement of the individuals.

According to Beal and Bers (2006) the results indicated that there was a definite collaborative learning environment between the students and parents in partnerships and students, in both groups, learned by playing and not as much by being taught. The partnership groups were observed, and a notable difference had the parents doing most of

the work for the students, where in the individual groups the students had to rely on peers to assist them.

Another robotic tool that is used in several early childhood classrooms is the Pro-Bot, which is a programmable floor robot that is simple and student friendly (McBee, 2009). The Pro-Bot has been a good starting point for teaching young students control, directional language and programming, along with curriculum that is being taught along with the use of the bot. This floor robot is a tool that has enhanced the learning of a curriculum content and processes such as literacy (story telling, recount, sequencing), science (experiments, problem solving, review) and mathematics (counting, patterns, direction, estimation).

The research shows a variety of educational technology tools being used to enhance learning in Kindergarten classrooms, but none specifically identify a tool that enhances student achievement in phonemic awareness. Digital cameras, interactive white boards, computer software, robotics, games and educational software all have made their mark on Kindergarten classrooms and have shown motivation to learn and some achievement with academics. The research done with handheld devices in Kindergarten related to phonemic awareness will fill a gap in the literature and determine if handheld devices are beneficial or not.

## **Handheld Devices in Schools**

Bennett and Cunningham (2008) reported on research that supports one-on-one computing, also known as ambiguous computing (Dieterle, 2008), which has been on the increase for the past 15 years. The need for students to function effectively and

efficiently in the classroom and to learn lifelong use of technology skills for the real world offers strong support for this type of education. The biggest appeals for this concept are the inexpensive, lightweight, portable, and easy to use features of handheld computers. One feature of one-on-one computing is the idea of using handheld computers in the classroom.

Research has indicated that handheld computers seem to be a growing trend and these mobile units are becoming more powerful and user-friendlier (Bennett & Cunningham, 2008; Young, Mullen & Stuve, 2005). However, these handheld computers are still viewed as harmful to student learning according to many educators, but their features and cost effectiveness of these technologic units makes them almost impossible not to use in classrooms.

No matter which side of the technology fence you sit on, 'technology happens.' Handheld technology is one of those things that just seemed to happen overnight. Sometimes crayons are better. In our excitement over the promise of new technology in the classroom, we might forget that, despite all its amazing capabilities, handheld technology is just a tool, like chalk, but more exciting! (Williams, 2006, p.60) Williams stated that handheld computers are a tool that educators can embrace, which make their jobs a littler easier and to engage the students of today. The ease of using handheld computers is one of the top factors in using these devices in the classroom.

Handheld computers changed the attitudes of the users in a positive way, opening the door for further progress in other areas such as the impact on student achievement and proficiency, a strong integration between current curriculum and technology use, and increased time on task (Alexiou-Ray, 2008; Gulchak, 2008; Lai, Wu, Kao & Chen, 2008; Van Hover, Berson, Bolick & Swan, 2006; van't Hooft, 2005). These research studies were conducted with adult educators and with older students, mostly in the college and secondary setting.

## Positive Aspects of Using Handheld Computers in Schools.

During the 2001-2002 teachers in 7% of United States public schools used school year handheld computers for educational purposes (Wangemann, Lewis, & Squires, 2003). In addition, the researchers reported on the "Palm Education Pioneers Program: Final Evaluation Report" from 2002. This report was a review of a large-scale study of the use of handheld computers in more than 100 U.S. elementary and secondary classrooms. During a survey of the teachers who participated in this study, about 90% reported that handhelds were an effective classroom tool and had the potential for making a positive impact on student learning.

In the pilot study by Wangemann, Lewis, and Squires (2003) a class section of a secondary education course in social studies was selected for the program. The social studies section was chosen because it integrated two additional strands of technology, and creativity into the social studies methodology. This six-week course had 26 participants and of the participants, 42% were juniors and 58% seniors; 89% were of ages 18 to 23, with 11% of the participants 24 years or older. The study included 70% girls and only 30% boys in the course. During the study the students met daily with university professors, on the university campus, and visited a public school weekly where they provided a classroom lesson. Once the handheld computers were distributed, the students

were provided with initial training on how to use the devices and limited help with the actual set up.

The study used two primary instruments for gathering data according to Wangemann, Lewis, and Squires (2003); first, students were required to keep a daily log of how they used their handheld computers. This log identified the type of use or function performed by the handheld computer and the amount of time actually spent in use. Second, a pretest and posttest were conducted using attitudinal scales regarding the effectiveness and use of handheld technology in education. The data were collected on students' experiences with technology before taking the social studies course. In addition, weekly debrief sessions were held in which students could share thoughts and feelings about their experiences with the handheld computers.

Wangemann, Lewis, and Squires (2003) discovered that student use of the handheld computers had a positive impact. Of the 26 students participating, using the units for school-based work, 92% used them for email regularly and 88% used word processing software regularly. It was also noted that 83% used the units for fun programs, and 54% used them for homework on a daily basis. Overall, the most frequently used functions of the handheld computers (in terms of minutes spent by each student per week) were for note taking, tasks and games. The logs indicated that every week the students' use increased as they became more proficient with their use and discovered other ways to enjoy them.

Wangemann, Lewis, and Squires (2003) indicated that at the conclusion of the six-weeks, the students were asked to report on the most positive experiences they had

used the handheld computers and the most frequently mentioned functions included the calendar (54%), e-reading (46%), games (38%) and taking notes (38%). The students, as part of their final examinations, were asked to report what activities or programs should be continued during a course that uses handheld computers, what activities or programs should be discontinued, and what new activities or programs could be added to the current offering.

The students felt that the handheld computers should be used more frequently in course assignments and activities, course material could be made available to them through beaming, and more training activities should be required (Wangemann, Lewis, & Squires, 2003). In fact, the largest response to what should be changed was the suggestion to spend more time in training the students on how to use the devices. There was little agreement among all students on what should be eliminated from the current offering.

The study further concluded that handheld computers offer some distinct opportunities in education (Wangemann, Lewis, & Squires, 2003). A few of the advantages include mobility, beaming or the sharing of information and communications, the personalization of student work, and empowerment of each individual having a learning tool under his or her own control.

Tomlinson (2003) reports that handheld computers are becoming more popular in both the real world and in the classroom because they are more affordable compared to desktop PC's, laptop computers, or other electronic devices. The handheld computers have become modern motivational tools can be used for a number of productive

applications that fit into the school model and include: word processing, homework planning, timetable reminder, printer utilities, and for fun through a variety of educational games. Use of the educational games help students, especially those who need the motivation, to learn key concepts become better communicators with their reading and writing through the use of technology.

Furthermore, handheld computers have been key in the development of such skills as greater concentration and attention span, memory skills, hand-eye coordination, reading skills, writing skills, math skills, confidence, problem solving, and technology skills (Tomlinson, 2003). With the need to ensure individual learning for each student the handheld computer can allow the differentiated instruction and set the level of learning a the appropriate place.

In the mixed-method study combining qualitative naturalistic investigation and a one-time pretest posttest quantitative design Gado, Ferguson, and van't Hooft (2006) who conducted research with 21 pre-service teachers, including 17 undergraduate and 4 graduate students, determined the implications of integrating handheld computers in science methods courses to create changes in curriculum and attitudes toward technology use with students. Qualitative data were collected in three stages through interviews, student reflection papers, journals, and classroom observations of peer teaching. The study used a rubric to determine the results of five areas: (a) classroom and school environments; (b) teacher's technology background and predisposition; (c) student's prior knowledge and experience; (d) open and engaging curriculum; and (e) access to handheld computers as learning tools in the classroom. These conditions affected the outcome of

the study and future uses of the handheld devices. The study concluded that there was increased student involvement with the integration of handheld computer technology into the science curriculum, that there was some evidence of increased student achievement, the handheld computers had a clear connection to the science curriculum, and methods the teachers used to deliver instruction and remained organized.

Lai, Wu, Kao, and Chen (2008) conducted a study using the jigsaw method of cooperative learning over a three-week period on the use of handheld computers in an effort to determine the implications of this type of technology with concept mapping tools. The study set out to answer two questions: what are the effects of using handheld computers in a traditional classroom and what are the issues associated with the use of handheld computers? The study's sample included 50 college students as subjects, in 12 different groups during a psychiatric nursing course, to determine if the handheld devices were viable. Various data were collected to evaluate the effects of using PDA's including student questionnaires, classroom observation journals, audio-recorded group discussions, students' concept maps, and interviews with the instructor. The study concluded that more time was needed to determine if the devices had a direct impact on student achievement; however, it was determined that by using the handheld computers students were more focused and excited about their work. All students used the devices during the entire study and course. The authors concluded that handheld devices had an impact on student achievement in the sense that the curriculum was integrated with technology, as a tool to provide real-life opportunities for 21st century learning.

In another study using a mixed-method approach, 23 fifth graders were studied to determine if handheld computers used in elementary classrooms gave a positive perception to both students and parents (Alexiou-Ray, 2008). Classrooms observations, discussions, interviews, and surveys were used to collect data. The students used the handheld devices for a nine-week period as part of their regular routine and then both students and parents were interviewed to determine if they had a positive or a negative experience and if this experience affected their education.

The study determined that the changes in attitude were mixed because of prior knowledge of the handheld computers, differences in how the handheld computers were used in education, and how often they were used in the study (Alexiou-Ray, 2008). Most students indicated that they preferred using the handheld computers instead of using paper and pencils or other technological devices. There were mixed views on whether or not the handheld computers made a difference for student achievement. The students expressed a positive perception on the use of the handheld computers in the classroom for a variety of purposes, but the parents did not have a positive experience.

Gulchak (2008) conducted a study of an eight-year old male with emotional and behavioral disorders who made use of a handheld device. The teacher used a handheld device to teach the student how to self-monitor his behavior and increase his overall time on task and student performance in school. The observational data collected indicated that the student did become proficient with monitoring his own behavior, by using a special software program on the handheld device. The student also was able to increase his time on task when using the handheld and this began to increase his achievement.

In a pilot study reported by Ramaswami (2008) the North Carolina Department of Public Instruction (NCDPI), led by the state superintendent June St Clair Atkinson, set out to prove how devices like handheld computers, cell phones, and iPods could be educational. In February (2008), the NCDPI, which is responsible for 115 local public school districts and 100 charter schools, launched Project K-Nect, an effort to address the large math and science skills deficiencies in North Carolina schools by using cell phones. In this pilot study, teachers distributed to students math problems that were aligned to their personal lesson plans and correspond to North Carolina state standards. Students had a chance to solve problems through their mobile devices, such as cell phones, or they could choose to check out a handheld computer to do the same task.

The NCDPI and its pilot partners, Digital Millennial Consulting and the wireless provider Qualcomm passed out 100 smart phones to four high schools and three different school districts in the state of North Carolina (Ramaswami, 2008). Smart phones were considered to be in the category of handheld computers that perform a variety of functions combining different technologies. The project ran for four months, and the data collected were reviewed to determine if there was any gain in student achievement in mathematics. The additional research collected indicated that by 2010 nearly 81 percent of Americans, ages 5-24, will own their own cell phone and these smart phones will be capable of much more than they have been. The research also indicated that with the increase in the use of smaller devices, like cell phones and handheld computers, there will be a shift in economics and they will begin to out sell the computer industry. This would largely be due to the cheaper cost of the mobile units.

# Handheld Computers for Multimedia.

Villano (2007) reported that in many classrooms teachers use movies as a reward or on a special occasion, but more creative teachers would integrate videos into their regular lessons to supplement the everyday curriculum and make the learning fun and motivational using such services as United Streaming, National Geographic, and Teacher Tube. In the nine school districts served by the Monroe 2-Orleans Board of Cooperative Educational Services (BOCES) in Spencerport, NY, movies have become part of the regular routine, with the help of handheld computers that are bringing students engaging instructional math content. This decision was arrived at in large due to the middle school math scores and the need to make improvements to student achievement.

To make changes to student achievement, within math, BOCES enlisted the help of K12 Handhelds, a technology integrator in Long Beach, CA, that specializes in building multimedia applications specifically for handheld computers (Villano, 2007). The company created BOCES several mini-movies, about 5-minutes in length, that taught math concepts like algebra, the distributive property, exponents to the students, through their handheld computers. These movies gave basic assistance to students by breaking down the math into different levels and they allow teachers to differentiate instruction and teach students at their own pace.

Villano (2007) reported that anything that can be played on a handheld has instructional potential and over time will raise student achievement. In southwest Delaware, Seaford School District is supporting the teaching of phonics and reading and writing skills to its early-elementary students with several series of "sight word" mini-

movies that K12 Handhelds created for the district. Students in Kindergarten through second grade practice recognizing and reading words using the videos. A word is shown, read aloud, and used in a sentence with an accompanying picture. The words are then shown with no audio, giving students an opportunity to practice reading independently. The movies are supplemented with e-Books that enable students to further improve their reading skills. Teachers use both technologies to supplement in-class lessons.

In a different study using multimedia tools in education Caudill (2007) used online learning and blended discussion, both utilizing technology to convey educational content, and shifting from a model working only with e-Learning to encompassing mobile learning (m-learning). The mobile learning included portable digital assistants (PDA), short message service (SMS) messaging via mobile phones (texting), and pod casts via MP3 players. The researchers believe that this shift in learning is both because of the access of instant information and the advances and simplicity of the technology itself.

Parsons and Ryu (2006) define m-learning as the delivery of learning content to learners using mobile computing devices (as cited in Caudill, 2007). This brings about learning advantages of being able to access information and perform tasks anytime and anyplace, breaking down the barriers of being corded and at a learning station. It must be noted that using mobile devices in schools can save money and be convenient but finding the right use and programs for the devices can be a bit of a challenge.

Caudill's (2007) research indicated that PDA's are primarily a data storage system with the primary uses being for electronic date books and contact information.

PDA's can be used for research and electronic communication and in some cases electronic learning tools can be downloaded to the devices for reference and interactive learning. The small screen, limited storage and processing, and lack of a keyboard make the PDA a litter harder to use with young students.

Mobile phones allow students to access information, exchange messages and information through their mobile phones (Caudill, 2007). The mobile phone can be used anyplace that a strong enough signal can be maintained and it is a device that most everyone has access to, outside of school, so integration is easier for educators. The research indicated that students find their mobile phones to be easy to access and use, non-threatening, private, and allows for on-demand support. Students know their own devices and can operate them without instruction time, allowing for the immediate use in the classroom.

Pod Casting allows students to create voice and video recordings of content of interest or educational purpose, much liked a recoded lecture (Caudill, 2007). Students can download pod casts from teacher lectures and instructions for missed days or as an intervention to the learning-taking place. The research indicated that many newer mobile phones and MP3 type devices allow for the same functions as the PDA and provide more features, therefore are the more popular types of mobile learning devices.

Clough, Jones, McAndrew, and Scanlon (2007) conducted a study on the increasing interest of informal learning in the recent years alongside interest in how this learning is supported by new technology tools, such as PDA's and smartphones. There is

little known about how adults make use of their own mobile devices to support intentional informal learning.

The Clough, et al. (2007) study used a survey to investigate whether, and to what extent, users of mobile devices used them for informal learning and does it also support collaborative learning with other adults. The participants in this study were recruited from online forums and businesses, and asked whether they used their devices for informal learning or not.

The study found a pattern of learning, some of which deployed the mobile devices capabilities unchanged, others triggered adaptations to typical learning activities to provide a better fit to the individual learner. This information will be shared with software companies to use in the design and upgrades to current mobile software and programs.

#### **Negative Aspects of Using Handheld Computers in Sschools.**

Bennett and Cunningham (2008), Dieterle (2008) and van't Hooft (2005) identified discrepant findings in studies that determined that handheld computers were not associated with student achievement. Researchers determined that handheld computers were a novelty item, whose positive effects would diminish, and that the devices themselves create additional burdens for the users. The burdens included the size of screens being too small and hard to read, the length of battery life for continuous usage, the small buttons, which were hard to push, and the lack of mobile programs for use on the devices.

Some researchers concluded that one-on-one computing, which is having a laptop computer for each student, should be used, but indicated that laptop computers and other forms of technology were better for students than handheld computers (Dieterle, 2008; van't Hooft, 2005). Their research indicated that studies have been too small to determine the real impact of student achievement and motivation or time on task.

In the quantitative two-year pilot study by Bennett and Cunningham (2008) elementary grade students utilized handheld devices to determine if formative assessments using these handheld computers in schools would be beneficial. The study used two groups of pre-service teachers in a small private university to determine the effectiveness, as it was predetermined that teachers must know how to use the handheld computers, not just their students. The study determined that the handheld computers were burdensome for data collection and that the teachers preferred the traditional use of a laptop computer instead, supporting the findings of van't Hooft (2005) and Dieterle (2008). The biggest problem found in this research was when the devices' batteries ran out, data were often lost; thus, creating additional work for the teacher. It was also noted that the screens were too small, not colorful enough, and the buttons and functions were too small to be utilized effectively.

A quasi-experimental study of 104 students by van't Hooft (2005) was conducted to determine the effectiveness of handheld computers used in pre-service social studies education courses on creating positive attitudes of future teachers toward technology integration in social studies curriculum. Of the 104 students 94 finished the three required surveys and used the devices as intended. The results concluded that although

the devices were successful for use and that most pre-service teachers determined that the use in the classroom would be beneficial, it was also determined that the limited shelf life of the handheld computers would eventually render the research useless because it would not convert well with new models and software.

A two-year qualitative study by Dieterle (2008) researched work being completed with students, faculty, and staff, at Harvard Graduate School in eight classes that used handheld computers. The study sought out to determine the problems and possibilities, as well as the potential and limitations of using handheld computers in education. The study found that although all of the participants used the devices often and enjoyed them, they did tend to use them for gaming, text messaging, and picture taking more than for research, writing, and educational work. This study also made mention of the idea of handhelds being a novelty that would wear off when the next best thing came along.

This research study explored the findings of these studies to determine if
Kindergarten students enjoy using handheld computers in the classroom. Students in this
study were assessed to determine if phonemic awareness skills increased as a result of
their use of handheld computers. Existing research does not offer studies specific to
subjects of Kindergarten students' ages and their usage of handheld computers in the
classroom, thus providing a gap in the research that this study will fill.

Further this study was designed to determine if the idea that handheld computers in the traditional Kindergarten classroom will raise student achievement in the area of phonemic awareness, which is a strong component of early literacy (Ball & Blachman, 1991; Byrne & Fielding-Barnsley, 1989; Foorman & Moats, 2004). Technology is

considered a modern teaching tool that can assist with the learning of literacy skills in schools and when used properly by educators can provide students with a real-world skill (NAEYC, 2008). In addition handheld devices in classrooms have become increasingly popular because of the low cost for districts, easy portability for students, and ease of use (Bennett & Cunningham, 2008; Williams, 2006).

Villano (2007) reported that handheld computers do not serve everyone, at least not yet. The increase in the desire to switch from standard textbooks to e-Books is on the rise and publishing companies have not yet released their audios in handheld format causing a gap in the desire to use handhelds instead of desktop or laptop computers.

There is no information to determine how long it will take for the publishing companies to release audio formats, or if they even are considering it.

Briggs (2006) conducted interviews of classroom teachers and found that handheld computers were not always better for curriculum because of the problems they presented when beginning a new program. Educators can agree that handheld computers increase motivation, encourage networking, are portable, and can cost-effectively improve test scores, but implementing a handheld project can be problematic. School districts and teachers must consider staff development for the teachers, finding appropriate software to use with students and providing adequate technical support when needed. On average the researcher found that teachers needed in the upwards of 100 hours of professional development to feel proficient enough to use the handheld computers with students and begin to work towards raising student achievement.

Despite findings in research showing problematic findings in providing handheld devices to older students research is necessary in the elementary school learning setting where students experience their first exposure to formal education and also where they begin to learn lifelong skills, especially in reading. While little is known about using handheld computers in Kindergarten classrooms for literacy, specifically for phonemic awareness, the research on handheld computers effects in classrooms of younger learners is needed. The above review of research supports the need for further study in the areas of best practices in phonemic awareness and the use of handheld computers by early childhood students to gain that knowledge.

There is a need to further explore the use of handheld computers in schools, specifically in Kindergarten, to introduce a 21st century tool to further student achievement. The handheld devices can be used in literacy instruction, specifically phonemic awareness, in an effort to guide students to a more constructivist approach to learning and to increase achievement levels. This study will address a deficiency in the existing literature because no study has been found which specifically explored the use of handhelds in Kindergarten to enhance phonemic awareness.

The above research supports the need for further study in the areas of best practices in phonemic awareness and the use of handheld computers by early childhood students to gain that knowledge. There is a need to further explore the use of handheld devices in schools, specifically in Kindergarten, to introduce a 21st Century tool that is not only economical for school districts, but also portable and easy to use. The handheld computers can be used in literacy instruction, specifically phonemic awareness in an

effort to guide students to a more constructivist approach to their learning and to increase achievement levels. This study will address a deficiency in the existing literature, in that no study had been found which specifically explored handheld computers in Kindergarten to enhance phonemic awareness.

#### Handheld Devices Used for Behavior

Olswang, Svensson, Coggins, Beilinson, and Donaldson (2006) conducted a study for the purpose of exploring the utility of time-interval analysis for documenting the reliability of coding social communication performance of children in classroom settings. Social communication is a core area in child language and in determining any disorders. The researchers had a vested interest in finding a method for determining whether independent observers could reliably judge both occurrence and duration of ongoing behavioral dimensions for describing social communication performance. This method of research is ideally explored using authentic, real-time observation and coding in natural environments, like the classroom. Handheld devices were used to record the data using a coding method.

Four coders participated in this study, and they all observed and then recorded six social communication behavioral dimensions using these devices (Olswang et al., 2006). Verbal and nonverbal dimensions were observed and noted during a specified time frame. Data were recorded for 20 different student segments of children in Kindergarten through third grade. Interobserver and intraobserver methods were followed within a specific time frame, and intervals for size and total observation length were manipulated to determine reliability. Hollenbeck (1978) defined interobserver as an agreement that

reflects how different observers code behaviors using audio or video (as cited in Olswang et al., 2006, pg. 1059). Hollenbeck (1978) defined intraobserver agreement addresses the stability of repeated measurements using similar instruments under similar conditions (as cited in Olswang et al., 2006, pg. 1059).

This research team observed students who were diagnosed with articulation and language disorders while they interacted with their teachers (Olswang et al., 2006). They further used social communication parameters, including both verbal behaviors (topic introduction, turn-taking, contingent responding to questions) and nonverbal behaviors (physical proximity, physical contacts, gestures, and eye gaze). Each parameter was judged as either facilitating the interaction (appropriate) or detracting from the communicative exchange (inappropriate). The research agreement ranged between 93% and 100% with a mean of 94.4% for judging appropriate performance and 92.3% for judging inappropriate performance for children with disorders, according to Olswang, et al. (2006).

The Olswang, et al. (2006) study revealed that interval sorting and kappa were suitable methods for examining reliability of occurrence and observation and duration of ongoing social communication behavioral dimensions. Nearly all comparisons yielded medium to large kappa values; interval size and length of observation minimally affected results. The analysis procedure solved a challenge in reliability: comparing coding by independent observers of both occurrence and duration of behavior. The results further showed that the utility of a new coding taxonomy and technology for application in a classroom setting could be meaningful.

## Methodology

This study used a mixed-methods sequential study design. This methodology was chosen because it generates data that has addressed the research questions (Teddlie & Yu, 2007). This method is often used in social and behavioral sciences and in education and allows for both quantitative and qualitative data collection. In this study the teacher interviews provided qualitative data and the results of the archived DIBLES test scores provided quantitative data. Below is a discussion of the strengths and limitations of a mixed-methods sequential study. Other methods were also considered and are discussed below.

## **Mixed-Method Study Definition**

Teddlie and Yu (2007) defined a mixed-method study as sampling that involves combining well-established qualitative and quantitative techniques in creative ways to answer research questions posed by mixed-method research designs. Mixed-methods allow for a variety of techniques, which involve the principle of gradual selection. The sequential mixed-methods involve the selection of units of analysis through the sequential use of probability and purposive sampling strategies (quantitative & qualitative) or vice versa (qualitative & quantitative). In a sequential mixed-methods study information from the first sample is often required to draw the second sample, and the second set of data grows from what is learned from the first set of data.

## Strengths of Mixed-Method Sequential Study

The mixed-method sequential study allows the sample size to be small or large, allowing for greater flexibility when the study draws on is a small population (Teddlie &

Yu, 2007). This method is also a simple study because one data point must be collected before the other can begin or become validated. The method allows for ease of data collection, allowing for a simple path to collect all the information needed to make a determination and to adequately address the research questions asked. It is a mixed-method sequential study that can be done over a short period of time and with limitations and still be considered meaningful and complete.

# **Limitations of Mixed Method Sequential Study**

A potential flaw of the mixed-methods sequential study is the fact that the quantitative results can alter the qualitative results, causing a different outcome than might have been projected (Teddlie & Yu, 2007). It is also a study that allows for small sample size, and that focus can mean that the results are not valid in many cases because of the size and the availability or resources.

How a mixed method study will answer research questions. A mixed-method sequential study allowed the experiment to take place in classrooms in an effort to determine whether students improved their phonemic awareness through the use of handheld devices. The first data point was an analysis of DIBELS test scores for students in two groups using ANCOVA. This data shows if there are any significant differences between the classrooms using handheld devices during phonemic awareness lessons and those who do not make use of them. Based on this data, the researcher has gain insight into how handheld devices facilitated or did not facilitate the development of phonemic awareness. The next data point was the structured interviews with the classrooms teacher's,

evidence was collected to either support or refute the idea of handheld devices becoming a key component of reading instruction and having an effect on the development of phonemic awareness.

Case study. This case study design was considered as a valid method of study. According to Schramm (1971), case study tries to illuminate a decision or a set of decisions: why they were taken, how they are implemented, and with what results (as cited in Yin, 2009). Using case studies for research purposes is one of the most challenging of the social science endeavors (Yin, 2009). This type of research design is a rigorous methodological path and begins with a thorough literature review and the careful and thoughtful posing of research questions and objectives. In a case study design, it is important to have dedication to formal and explicit procedures when doing research and have procedures central to all types of research methods and having a strong chain of evidence.

A flaw in this study is that no precedent can be set based on a single case study because of the individual nature of each set (Lain, 2007). This type of study allows the research to fill a specific gap in the research, but it is an isolated instance. Case study takes longer to conduct accurately and because of that does not always fit into the window or data collection in a school setting. It is exploratory and, due to its status as a small single case, might not be accurate enough to be taken. This method was rejected because it does not fit with the research questions chosen in this study and cannot show how using handheld devices can improve phonemic awareness scores in a Kindergarten classroom.

Phenomenology. Another type of research method that was considered but rejected was that of phenomenology. Phenomenology is defined as a philosophical trend that takes the intuitive sense of conscious experience and tends to describe its fundamental essence (Halling, 2002). Phenomenology is one of many types of qualitative research that examines the lived experiences of humans and strives to gain and understanding of the essential truths of these life experiences. Phenomenologists believe that knowledge and understanding are embedded in our everyday world. In other words, they do not believe knowledge can be quantified or reduced to numbers or statistics.

Phenomenology tends to ignore any sort of effort that deals with naturalism, which is growing and includes the use of technology (Marcell, 2005). Phenomenologists believe that knowledge and understanding are embedded in our everyday world. In other words, they do not believe knowledge can be quantified or reduced to numbers or statistics. Phenomenologists believe that truth and understanding of life can emerge from people's life experiences. Although phenomenologists share this belief, they have developed more than one approach to gain understanding of human knowledge.

This theory was rejected because of the lack of connection to life experiences that involve technology to enhance learning. In the research with handheld devices in the Kindergarten classroom to enhance phonemic awareness DIBELS data were used. The DIBELS data shows whether there is a connection between handheld devices and phonemic awareness achievement. This type of methodology does not make use of statistics or quantitative data.

## Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this mixed-method sequential study was to determine the impact of handheld devices on phonemic awareness in a traditional Kindergarten classroom.

Chapter 3 includes a description of the study and the rationale for completing the research in a mixed-methods sequential format. First, the chapter explains how the mixed-method sequential study answers the research question. Second, the chapter describes the methodology. An explanation is included to show how the groups, both those using handheld devices and those not using them, were selected. Third, the chapter contains descriptions of the researcher's role and the data collection process. Evidence of scholarly research is provided, and a defense given for the validity and quality of data collection and for the study as a whole. Finally, a discussion of how the data were collected, both qualitative and quantitative results, and how the data were organized is provided. Chapter 3 concludes by addressing the ethical issues inherent in this study.

## **Research Design**

The study used a mixed-methods design that included both qualitative and quantitative features. The work was scheduled sequentially (Teddlie & Yu, 2007) to inform the study as it progressed. For example, the results from the data analysis were used to develop the questions in the qualitative portion of the research.

Archived data were collected from the Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early

Literacy Skills (DIBELS) assessment administered fall 2009 and winter 2010 to

determine achievement of phonemic awareness for students in four classes. Two classes

of Kindergarten students were taught phonemic awareness using handheld devices and

were pooled together as one group This group was compared with two classes of Kindergarten students who were taught phonemic awareness without handheld devices and who were pooled together as one group. The DIBELS data were analyzed using ANCOVA. Based on the analysis of the archived DIBELS data, interviews of classroom teachers were completed to investigate the reasons for the findings of the quantitative data. The interviews explored the findings in more depth to see what the teachers did and the instructional strategies they used.

A mixed-methods approach was selected because it allowed the researcher to find out if there are differences between the development of phonemic awareness in two groups of students, those who learned phonemic awareness using handheld devices and those who did not. The mixed-methods approach allowed the researcher to determine if there were significant differences between Kindergarten students using handheld devices during phonemic awareness lessons and those who do not, as measured by the DIBELS scores from the fall 2009 and winter 2010 DIBELS scores for both schools. Based on the findings, the qualitative approach used structured interviews of the four classrooms to determine if and/or how the handheld devices supported phonemic awareness instruction.

#### Role of the Researcher

I am a former 3-year substitute teacher and a 7-year classroom teacher who taught five years of full-day Kindergarten. Currently, I serve as an instructional coach in a district-wide position with the responsibility of technology integration. As an instructional coach, I assist teachers with technology integration and other best practices, but am not in a supervisory role. I work in one of the targeted school districts and, during

my first four years of teaching, I worked in the other targeted school district used in this study.

The potential for my bias and conflict of interest has been reduced because I am not teaching in a classroom and was not directly involved in the use of the handheld devices with Kindergarten students in any of the four classrooms selected for this research. The teachers in the four classrooms have all worked with me and, therefore, had a comfort level and basic knowledge needed to assist with this research in the best interest of the students.

I had the responsibility of contacting the two district officials to obtain access to the two schools for the research. A Letter of Cooperation was created between school districts and these documents are found in Appendices A and B. Once IRB approval was obtained the researcher contacted the principals of the two schools to obtain access to the Kindergarten teachers. The school district policies and procedures for research were followed, and a mutual understanding agreement was implied. The letters of cooperation completed by both district officials outlined the procedures and gave permission to review DIBELS assessment data and interview classroom teachers. The study followed strict guidelines for the ethical protection of all participants and data. The actual names of the school districts, schools, and participants were not being used in the data analysis or final report, ensuring confidentiality.

Positioning the role of the researcher in a mixed method sequential study (Teddlie & Yu, 2007) such as this one required acceptance between the study participants, school district educators, and the researcher. I conducted interviews with classrooms teachers,

both those who have used handheld devices and those who have not, determined what they saw and heard in the classroom and differences in terms of their phonemic awareness pedagogy. The interview questions for the groups using handheld devices are included in Appendix C and the interview questions for the non-user groups can be found in Appendix D.

A structured interview instrument (Appendix C) was used to help determine if the use of handheld devices as a key component of reading instruction had an effect on the development of phonemic awareness, and to help interpret the analysis of the DIBELS scores. These same questions were used to determine what ways the handheld devices supported or didn't support student development of phonemic awareness in Kindergarten. The interview questions were used to explain what was found in the ANCOVA analysis of the fall 2009 and the winter 2010 DIBELS scores. The design of the questions guided the conversation with classroom teachers in both groups and in both schools. An ANCOVA analysis of ISF for the difference between fall 2009 and winter 2010 DIBELS scores for phonemic awareness was conducted, and results presented in graph format in order to show the growth of the students, identified by number. The fall 2009 LNF scores served as a covariate. The graphs show the target that the students should be at based on the time of year.

## **Research Questions**

The research study explored the use of handheld devices in traditional

Kindergarten classrooms to improve phonemic awareness. The integration of handheld

devices into the reading curriculum does offer teachers an additional tool to help students learn through 21st Century processes that can be carried into real life settings.

**Research Question 1**: Are there significant differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices?

**Ho**: There are no significant differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices.

Alternative H: There is significant difference between the phonemic awareness

DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and

Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices.

**Research Question 2**: What is the teacher's perception of the ways handheld devices support or do not support student development of phonemic awareness.

#### Context

The research purpose was to discover if handheld devices serve as an effective teaching tool to increase student achievement in the area of phonemic awareness. In particular, the study explored whether Kindergarten students that use Terrapin Logo Bee-Bot handheld devices during their regular phonemic awareness lessons in place of traditional teaching tools show a greater academic growth, overall, with their DIBELS assessment scores between the fall pretest and the winter posttest than students who did not use handheld devices in phonemic awareness lessons.

The participating classrooms were selected based on the cooperating schools that work with the Terrapin Logo Bee-Bot handheld devices and that have classroom teachers who were willing to provide information during the interview process. The researcher conducted the interviews of four-classroom teachers, two who used handheld devices in the classroom for phonemic awareness lessons, and two who did not.

Both districts follow the same state standards and expectations for Kindergarten reading, specifically phonemic awareness. They both make use of DIBELS assessment as the universal screener when the students first arrive in school and again in the winter to determine growth. DIBELS is a set of procedures and measures for assessing the acquisition of early literacy skills from Kindergarten through sixth grade (University of Oregon Center on Teaching and Learning, 2009). These assessments are designed to be snapshots of skills used to regularly monitor the development of early literacy and early reading skills. DIBELS were developed to measure recognized and empirically validated skills related to reading outcomes, and each measure has been thoroughly researched and demonstrated to be reliable and valid indicators of early literacy development and predictive of later reading proficiency to aid in the early identification of students who need interventions to be successful.

## **Instrumentation and Materials**

Instruments that were used included DIBELS as a measure of phonemic awareness and a structured set of interview questions for classroom teachers. There was one set of questions for the classroom teachers who used handheld devices and one set for classroom teachers who did not use handheld devices. I designed these interview

questions with students, teachers, and curriculum in mind and to ensure that they provided the information needed to answer the research question adequately.

The DIBELS scores were collected for both fall 2009 and winter 2010 by the school systems for all Kindergarten students, and these archived data, that are disaggregated with no student identification, were analyzed to determine what impact, if any, the handheld devices had on phonemic awareness. The reports indicated which classrooms were using the handheld devices and which ones were not to ensure that the identities of the groups were segregated. The DIBELS assessment provided an overall score initial sound fluency (ISF) for each individual so that the fall 2009 and the winter 2010 scores could be analyzed. Initial sound fluency (ISF) is only reported and tested in Kindergarten, first in the fall and then again in the winter.

DIBELS was developed based on procedures for Curriculum-Based Measurement (CBM), which were created at the Institute for Research and Learning Disabilities at the University of Minnesota in the 1980s (DIBELS, 2009). Like CBM, DIBELS was developed to be cost effective and efficient indicators of a student's progress toward achieving a general outcome, like phonemic awareness.

Initial research on DIBELS was conducted at the University of Oregon in the late 1980s (DIBELS, 2009). Since then, an ongoing series of studies on DIBELS has documented the reliability and validity of the measures as well as their sensitivity to student change. The DIBELS authors were motivated then, as now, by the desire to improve educational outcomes for children, especially those from poor and diverse backgrounds. Research continues to be done at several universities across the country.

According to Kaminski and Good (1996), DIBELS is a set of prereading measures that assess skills in phonological awareness and alphabetic understanding, and have been embraced by the school psychology community to (as cited in University of Oregon Center of Teaching and Learning, 2009). The DIBELS are attractive to educators because they are quick and easy to administer, can be used for making educational decisions, and are well suited for use in a formative manner alongside a problem- solving model. According to the authors, DIBELS can be used in schools, especially with Kindergarten and first-grade students, to answer such questions as: (a) which children are at risk for reading difficulty because of inadequate phonological awareness skills? (b) Which children need additional instruction in phonological awareness skills? (c) Is the current instruction effective in increasing phonological awareness skills? and (d) when has a child developed phonological awareness skills to a degree that is no longer indicative of difficulty learning to read? This goes to the validity of the DIBELS test and shows how it makes a great pre and post assessment for determining if handheld devices make a difference with phonemic awareness achievement in Kindergarten.

The DIBELS assessment has two ways of examining reliability corresponding to the use of data (University of Oregon Center on Teaching and Learning, 2009). Many of the assessment are given in a quick 60 second probe, which is an indicator of what the student knows or needs additional help in. However, brief, repeatable measures can be aggregated to increase reliability. When more reliable information is needed, the average of 3 to 5 probes on different days can be used. For each measure, proctors note how many probes would be necessary to reach .90 reliability. This differs conceptually from the

Woodcock-Johnson, for example, which must reach accepted reliability in one assessment because it is not brief and repeatable. Even the least reliable DIBELS measure, Initial Sound Fluency, yields reliability for .90 when administered 4 or 5 times for an approximate total of 5 minutes of assessment. Therefore, the reliability of 5 minutes of ISF would be .90 (University of Oregon Center on Teaching and Learning, 2009).

According to DIBELS (2009), phonemic awareness is the ability to hear and manipulate the sounds in spoken words and the understanding that spoken words and syllables are made up of sequences of speech sounds. Phonemic awareness is essential to learning to read in an alphabetical writing system, because letters represent sounds or phonemes. Phonemic awareness is a strong predictor of children who experience early reading success. The DIBELS assessment was used to measure phonemic awareness for each of the individuals in the study, those using the handhelds and those who are not.

#### **Interview Protocol**

The interview protocol consisted of seven open-ended questions that were asked of the classroom teachers using handheld devices and five open-ended questions that were asked of the classroom teachers not using the handheld devices. The questions asked guided the discussion and were aligned with research question 2. Teachers using the handheld devices described what they saw and heard while their students used handheld devices to explain if the handheld devices had an impact on student growth in phonemic awareness, what impact how they taught phonemic awareness had on student

growth, and to describe what worked, what didn't work, and their opinion of the impact using handheld devices had on student growth.

The classroom teachers not making use of handheld devices were asked similar questions as to how they teach and what works and doesn't work, but also their opinion on would the handheld devices impact student achievement or hinder it. Their questions began with five scripted and open-ended questions, but then the conversation continued based on the responses.

#### **Data Collection**

About forty-six Kindergarten students representing the handheld group participated in the study by using the Terrapin Logo Bee-Bot handheld devices during the phonemic awareness lessons on a daily basis. About 46 Kindergarten students representing the non-handheld group were included in the study to compare the differences between using the handheld devices and not during phonemic awareness lessons.

Letter Naming Fluency (LNF) from the fall 2009 DIBELS assessment were the covariate, the independent variable were the treatment (whether or not the handheld device were used), and the dependent variable DIF (the ISF difference in scores from fall 2009 to winter 2010 on the Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills [DIBELS]). The DIBELS scores were put into an ANCOVA and analyzed to determine if there were any significant differences between the groups using the handheld devices during phonemic awareness lessons and those not using them. The model used was a general linear model, which describes an observed score as the sum of the population

mean, the treatment effect for a specific factor, and random error. Specifically the data were a Univariate where the population in which the sample is taken is normally, is independent, and the variances of the populations are equal. After reviewing the DIBELS results, the researcher set up interviews with each of the four teachers.

The interviews were scripted questions to determine what pedagogy the teachers are using to teach phonemic awareness in their classrooms. Questions were asked to determine what worked and why and what did not work and why. The groups using handheld devices were asked how they used them and how they compared to the DIBELS reports to determine if there were significant results to determine that the handhelds made a difference with scores. The groups without the handheld devices were asked if they think the devices could work for their classrooms. The interviews were recorded and the audio files were transcribed.

# **Protection of Participants' Rights**

There was no risk associated with the participation in this study. Participants did not face psychological stress, negative effects on their health, unwanted solicitation, unwanted intrusion of privacy, or social or economic loss. The identifiers used by the researcher in regard to the four classroom teachers did not include participants' names, school of record, school email address, and school telephone number. The teachers in the handheld group are identified by the pseudonyms Ann and Alex and teachers in the group without handheld devices are identified as Barbara and Betty. No social security numbers, or personal information beyond this information was required. The pseudonym names are associated with the classroom data. The school districts are referred to as

school district A and school district B. The students are not identified on the results, but rather identification numbers are used instead. All participant information and assessment records are being kept confidential. Records and assessments collected over the course of the study are being kept private in a locked file at the school site in which the researcher resides. The researcher is the only person to have access to the information collected in its research format.

The school districts provided a signed Cooperation Agreement for the study to allow teachers to participate and for the research to take place in the schools. This agreement has allowed the researcher to access and use archived DIBELS scores for fall and winter of the 2009-2010 school year. These forms are included in Appendices A and B.

The procedures of the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University protect the participants and the data being collected to ensure ethical measures were being taken in the development of the data collection materials and the actual research and follow-up process. The school districts involved also had the researcher complete the necessary paperwork to conduct research on the selected classrooms and to conduct interviews, and analyze data collected. A letter of permission to conduct the research study is included in the final documentation (Appendices A and B). My approval number from the Walden IRB is 02-17-10-0305234

# Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this sequential, mixed-methods study was to evaluate the impact of handheld devices known as Bee-Bots on phonemic awareness in a traditional Kindergarten classroom. The quantitative portion of the study involved the relationship between the independent variable (whether or not the handheld device was used, coded as a dummy), and the dependent variable DIF (the ISF difference in scores from fall 2009 to winter 2010 on the Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills [DIBELS]). The covariate was the LNF from fall 2009. The qualitative portion of the research addressed the teachers' perceptions of the ways handheld devices supported or did not support phonemic awareness. The specific objective of this study was to test the impact of handheld devices on the development of phonemic awareness in Kindergarten students, in a traditional classroom.

Chapter 4 provides the results of the data collected in each phase of the research. The first phase of the research was quantitative and addressed the first research question, while the second phase was qualitative and addressed the second research question. After the Walden Institutional Review Board had approved the study, participant consent forms (Appendix G) were delivered to each of the four teachers. The teachers returned the forms with their written consent. I then gained access to archived DIBELS records for the two groups for fall 2009 and winter 2010; these records were examined for phonemic awareness (letter naming fluency [LNF] and initial sound fluency [ISF]). After completing the quantitative data collection, I conducted four teacher interviews to explore in more detail the experiences of the two groups in the study and seek in-depth

understanding of their perceptions of using the devices in teaching phonemic awareness. The four teacher participants were given pseudonyms to ensure confidentiality. The teachers using the handheld devices (experimental participants) were given the names Ann and Alex, while the teachers not using handheld devices (control participants) were given the names Barbara and Betty. Ann and Barbara are both from district A and Alex and Betty are from district B, as seen in table 1.

Table 1

Teacher Participants

	District A	District B	
Experimental Teachers	Ann	Alex	
Control Teachers	Barbara	Betty	

## **Phase 1: Quantitative Results**

In the first phase of this mixed-method study, I analyzed the quantitative data. Seventy-six students participated in the study by taking the LNF and ISF sections of the DIBELS assessment. The two groups (treatment and control) were compared using Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA). I investigated DIF (the ISF difference between fall 2009 and winter 2010 on DIBELS), the covariate (LNF), ability to adjust for previous level of performance, and found that it provided no predictive or discriminatory value relative to LNF growth. That is, the covariate did not achieve significance, which suggested that the two groups were independent and did not initially differ in terms of their baseline scores. Although the study found no significant differences between the

group using the handheld devices and the group not using the handheld devices the results indicate that the use of handheld devices did not hinder growth in phonemic awareness. Table 2 illustrates the actual mean scores for fall LNF, fall ISF, winter ISF, and DIF (the difference between fall 2009 and winter 2010 for ISF) to show where the groups were at the beginning of the study and where they were at the end of the study.

Table 2

Actual Mean Scores from Fall to Winter

	N	Fall LNF	Fall ISF	Winter ISF	DIF
Experimental Group	38	11.55	8.71	22.39	13.68
Control Group	38	17.61	9.79	22.55	12.76

# **Research Question 1**

Research Question 1 was, "Are there significant differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices?" Each group consisted of two classes with 38 subjects total, one class from each school; these classes were selected because they were the only ones making use of Bee-Bot handheld devices during phonemic awareness lessons and activities. All students in the study took part in daily phonemic awareness lessons for approximately 15 minutes a day as part of the normal literacy block of instruction in Kindergarten.

# **Hypotheses**

H<sub>1</sub>: There are no significant differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices.

Alternative  $H_1$ : There is a significant difference between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices.

#### Results

According to the ANCOVA results, the null hypothesis was accepted, and there are no significant differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS scores (ISF) for students using the handheld devices and students not using the handheld devices (see Table 3). The result was not significant, F(1,74) = 1.54, p = .22. Because the differences were not at a significant level (p < .05), the null hypothesis for Research Question 1 was accepted.

Table 3

ANOVA Summary Table

	Sum of	df	Mean squares	F	Sig.
Between	squares 232.750	1	232.750	1.539	.219
groups Within	11189.921	74	151.215		
groups Total	11422.671	75			

Table 4 shows the unadjusted mean score (LNF) of the two groups comparing the classes using handheld devices and the classes not using handheld devices. The classes using the handheld devices showed a very small increase over the classes not using the handheld devices.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics for the DIBELS Differences From Fall 2009 and Winter 2010

	N	M	SD
Control	38	10.1842	9.49496
Experimental	38	13.6842	14.56969

## **Phase 2: Qualitative Results**

The qualitative phase was the next step in the sequential mixed-methodology plan. The purpose of the qualitative phase was to explore further and provide insight into why the quantitative differences found in Phase 1 existed. Four interviews were conducted to collect data. Two teachers from each of the groups were interviewed using a basic set of questions, which can be found in Appendices C and D. The interviews were recorded and the audio files transcribed.

Research Question 2: "What is the teachers' perception of the ways handheld devices support or do not support student development of phonemic awareness?"

To answer this research question, interviews of four Kindergarten teachers were conducted and of these participants the two experimental teachers used handheld devices and the two control teachers did not use handheld devices during their phonemic

awareness lessons. Themes from these interviews were discovered, and the results provide an account of the teachers' perceptions of the use of handheld devices (Bee-Bots) in the Kindergarten classroom. Four pre-determined categories emerged from the review of literature: (a) assessments (b) engagement (c) strategies and (d) reasons to use or not to use Bee-Bots. Additional themes were added as the data were analyzed, and one category was eliminated.

# **Coding for Themes**

According to Trochim (2006), coding is a process of categorizing qualitative data and is utilized for describing the implications and details of the research, while developing initial categories. Prior to conducting the interviews, a spreadsheet was created with likely categories of key words drawn from the literature review, from which would emerge themes and patterns during the analysis of the interview data. After each interview had been conducted and transcribed, the first step was to read and reread data to find key words or phrases that matched the proposed categories, and to see if any new themes or patterns emerged. Research Question 2 was used to guide interview analysis. Once key words or phrases were determined and highlighted, these were added to the spreadsheet under the appropriate category or under a new category that was created as needed. The initial categories included: (a) assessments, (b) engagement, (c) strategies, and (d) reasons to use or not to use Bee-Bots. Two new categories emerged from the analysis of the interviews and they included: (a) social growth and (b) technology standards. It was also determined that one of the original four categories was too broad

and was eliminated: category (d) reasons to use or not use Bee-Bots. From those categories, themes could be developed to provide insight into the research question.

#### **Data Analysis**

Once the four interviews were color coded, the process of analysis began. First the data were sorted on a spreadsheet within several categories and then the information was compared and sorted into five main categories. The categories included: (a) assessments, (b) engagement, (c) strategies, (d) social growth, and (e) technology integration. The five categories were then summarized showing themes among the interviews. Themes were identified as: (a) leadership, (b) skill development, (c) differentiated instruction, (d) time on task, (e) interactive activities, (f) enjoyment for learning, (g) hands on learning, (h) time management, (i) cooperative learning, (j) praise, (k) team work and collaboration, (l) parent comments, and (m) technology standards. According to Rubin and Rubin (2005) this type of process included categorizing main points made by the participants and then checking for accuracy and modifying as necessary. The four teachers, who were interviewed, were asked to verify the information was accurate and not taken out of context.

#### Assessments

Examining the question, "What is the teachers' perception of the ways handheld devices support or do not support student development of phonemic awareness?" had different results between the two groups of teachers. The experimental teachers felt handheld devices were easy to use and fun for the Kindergarten students and offered them a great hands-on learning opportunity that motivated them to grow both socially and

academically. The control teachers felt like the Bee-Bot had potential, but was not much different than other types of technology and teaching tools and based on the observation that Bee-Bots were more like a toy than an instructional strategy. Several aspects of how teachers used assessments and measured student growth came out of the interviews. The teachers in the two experimental groups supported the use of Bee-Bot handheld devices to improve student achievement with all students, while the teachers in the two control groups supported the idea that a variety of strategies and the newness of school supported the growth of the Kindergarten students.

The experimental teachers thought that the Bee-Bot worked well with any student and would show growth with achievement based on observation and various formal and informal assessments. Alex reported:

Bee-Bots helped them a great deal. I can tell them a sound and they program the Bee-Bot to find that sound. I've looked at my assessments throughout the year and you know our letter sound identification, non-sense word fluency, everything has gone up so I really think that um the learning is happening because if I look at my test results they're achieving they are all going up, no ones declining everyone is moving in the right direction.

Continuous analysis within the category of assessments found three themes: (a) leadership, (b) skills development, and (c) differentiated instruction.

**Leadership.** The teachers in group reported students becoming experts at using Bee-Bots and the unintended byproduct of this experience were the development of leadership skills. Alex said it best:

I really don't have to do anything, sit back and guide it they need anything or get off track or something. They're so excited they're very positive, their interaction with their peers is very positive if someone is struggling and not getting the answer they, you know they, are very great at giving hints or you know if someone's having a hard time they can relate that to some other word or other experience. It's just; it's just great to see them becoming little teachers.

Ann had this to say: "One of the main things is cooperative learning. They all take a role to help each other, and there are team leaders who will help the lower students identify and drive our little robots."

**Skill development.** Both groups of teachers felt that the Bee-Bot handheld devices could enhance skills development with the Kindergarten students. Barbara was asked if she had been given the opportunity to use the Bee-Bots would she have taken that opportunity and she had this to say:

I just think it's another tool that can enhance their learning. Um, I still think that there needs to be that oral direct instruction as well, but this is something that you know is a tool to um enhance what they've already learned and to get it concrete in their minds.

When asked about what they see during phonemic awareness lessons Ann had this to say, "I hear the pronunciation better. I hear also the kids saying, "Oh you made a mistake, let's fix that mistake yourself." So the kids are actually helping each other fix errors to learn in a better environment. Betty stated this, "I think is very useful to enrich their understanding of concepts."

Both groups reported that Bee-Bots would have an impact on students who are in Special Education, Title 1, and English Language Learner (ELL) programs. An example of this was when Alex stated,

One of my ELL students could not recognize any letters or sounds at the beginning of the year and now she is at a 100% letters and over 60% sounds. She is beginning to use her sounds in words and things like that so you know it's helped a great deal. Students have benefited greatly from using these Bee-Bots and it's a different way of approaching learning.

When Barbara was asked if she were to use the Bee-Bots during her lessons would she want to use them with a certain group of students and not another group and she had this to say,

I think it would be very helpful for, especially my ELL kids that are very low and um there is a language barrier for them to understand that actual letter matched that sound and stuff like that so I think that it's a very helpful tool for those kiddos.

Barbara believed that the interactive nature and the hands-on approach helped her kids learn, especially the sub-populations like the ELL students she mentioned.

**Differentiated instruction.** All of the teachers believed that grouping kids and then using the groups for interventions and enrichment was good for the students. An experimental teacher, Alex, had this to say when asked about enrichment opportunities with the Bee-Bot, "Um, the Bee-Bot program has a lot of great ideas with the letters and numbers mat but a I would like to use my own created mat you know to help the higher

students take off right away instead of just working where they are, being able to use them as an enrichment activity with the higher students." Ann had this to say about her program, "Bee-Bots is a big part of my ELL instruction and my children with learning difficulties that are either Title 1 or IEP identified. A, it gives them a different way of looking at things than the other structures with the core curriculum and phonemic awareness." When asked if she felt that the Bee-Bots would be helpful for specific students in the class and maybe not for others Barbara had this to say, "Um, I think it's very helpful for, especially my ELL kids that are very low and um there is a language barrier for them to understand that actual letter matched that sound and stuff like that so I think that it's a very helpful tool for those kiddos." She also said, "So you can differentiate what groups you set them in for Bee-Bots and have them using different mats depending upon what level they are at."

# Engagement

All four classroom teachers agreed that Bee-Bot handheld devices engaged students, which seemed to be a commen trait teachers desired in Kindergarten classrooms. The two control group teachers observed the experimental teachers and from those observations made their determinations that the Bee-Bots engaged studetns.

According to these teachers engagement has been key to keeping the Kindergarten student on task and learning. If the students are engaged then they will follow rules, and show good behavior. Alex expressed her thoughts, "It can take a boring lesson and make it very engaging and I think when kids are engaged they're learning." Betty said this when asked about the idea of using the Bee-Bot with specific groups of students, "I think

overall it would be helpful to the students that need that extra you know, hands on activity that can make it really fun for them and interesting." Betty also added that what works for her during phonemic awareness is this, "Hands on, providing them with ownership of their concepts and just making sure that its actively engaging them, its interesting to them, and they're able to have fun and learn." From the data analysis of engagement came three new themes: (a) time on task, (b) interactive activities, and (c) enjoyment for learning.

Time on task. The two groups of teachers had different opinions about the students using handheld devices and remaining on task. Alex had this to say when talking about her Bee-Bots, "I look at my students that have a hard time focusing, they're on task and you know students that are natural leaders are helping and I can just see so much learning going on using them. I think they positively impacted student learning in my classroom um tremendously." When Betty was asked about her opinion about the impact the Bee-Bots would have in her classrooms, whether or not they would impact or hinder learning she had an opposing view. Betty had this to say, "I think it would hinder if they're distracted by it, if they don't understand you know what they are suppose to be doing."

Interactive activities. Kindergarten manipulatives included such things as white boards, tiles, and picture and word cards and all the teachers seemed to include these in their normal routines. Betty declared, "They're learning at all times so anything instruction wise is new to them so I think that they're constantly taking things in and making sure that its actively engaging them, its interesting to them, and they're able to

have fun and learn, while not knowing that they are learning." Betty gave interactive directions like this to ensure all her students were paying attention, "If you're listening tap your hands if you're listening follow me." Anything creative, hands-on, and interactive will keep the Kindergarten students attention and from there they will grow and student achievement will be higher. Barbara added, "I would like my phonemic awareness to be more interactive, more doing something different then you know just orally."

Enjoyment of learning. The teachers all expressed concerns that the standard phonemic awareness lessons provided by their core reading programs were scripted and included only direct instruction, which often bored the students. Direct oral instruction was an area that the teachers agreed did not work with this age group. Ann expressed it like this, "When we do direct instruction I get "A, A" and when I do the Bee-Bots they're excited, which makes it easier to observe what their learning patterns are." Betty had this to add, "Um, they need you know fun and they wanna be able to be learning, but not knowing at the same time." Alex said it best when she described first having the Bee-Bots, "So you know I, I guess the excitement that they have to use it is exciting or um surprising but they I just knew when I saw them that they would be a great tool to have in my classroom. I really feel validated that the students are so excited. You know they are as excited as I am using them."

Kindergarten is the first formal year of public education for most students and because of the change from the home environment to a school environment work to ensure a "fun" learning environment. Preston and Mowbray (2008) suggested that

allowing all students to participate in lessons that are engaging and enjoyable will improve student growth, through the engagement they offer

#### **Strategies**

North Central Regional Educational Laboratory (1999) provided information on strategies for early childhood classrooms, specific to literacy instruction and they promote these areas: (a) early childhood environments, (b) daily schedules that are consistent, and (c) a sense of community. The four teachers had several areas where they believed in the same common best practices for Kindergarten. First off all four teachers taught in classrooms that were structured for Kindergarten learning, including the central carpet for gathering. The materials they used were appropriate for this age group and provided hands-on learning. The teachers began phonemic awareness with whole-group instruction on the reading carpet and then broke into smaller table groups to supplement the learning with technology, movement, or manipulatives. As needed the smaller groups were broken into individual activities for interventions and enrichments as well.

All four teachers expressed their concerns with the core reading programs and not having enough information to teach students phonemic awareness, so they had to supplement with other materials and teaching tools. The two teachers from District A made use of Kagan cooperative learning strategies, their Promethean interactive white boards, computer pods with literacy software and Internet based-programs, and provided music and audio recordings through their listening centers. The two teachers in District B made use of movement activities from their district adopted reading program, SMART interactive white boards, oral activities with specific actions, and music. All four

teachers used letter experts from the *No More Letter of the Week* program to learn letters and sounds, build responsibility and leadership, and engage students in their own learning process. According to the National Reading Panel (NRP, 2000) teachers may be able to use a particular program in the classroom, but may find that it suits some objectives and students, but not all and this required additional materials and modes of teaching. No one program is a "one size fits all" (NRP, 2000) model that teachers can use with all students. In addition to this information two themes emerged from the analysis and included: (a) hands-on learning and (b) time management.

Hands on learning. Barbara maintained that, "I have used manipulatives to make it more interactive than um just the oral whole group instruction. Hands-on is better to remember their learning and comprehend; everybody seems to be really involved." Betty had this to say when asked about the possibility of using Bee-Bots, "I think that it would definitely impact, positively impact their understanding because they're able to use their hands on process to understand concepts."

Time management. Ann had this to say about the difference between last year without her Bee-Bots and this year with them, "Last year it took an awful lot longer to find the time to work with each individual group to try and get them to the level they are today." Another perspective to time management came from Barbara who was concerned that the actual time to use the Bee-Bot would hinder her students' learning. She had this to say, "You know to make it a little bit more interactive, um for them to all be able to do something instead of waiting for their turn."

#### Social Growth

Both the teachers in the experimental group and the control group indicated evidence of social skills learned or needing to be worked on through the use of the Bee-Bot handheld device. Social skills are an important part of the Kindergarten year since this is the first year most students spent in formal education. The National Association for the Education of Young Children (NEAYC, 2009) stated that in Kindergarten, teachers expect children to polish their social skills. Taking turns, playing cooperatively with other children, sharing, and listening to an adult other than their parent or caregiver are vital to the student's success in school. Three themes came out of this search and include: (a) cooperative learning, (b) praise, and (c) team work and collaboration.

Cooperative learning. Ann stated this about using Bee-Bots during phonemic awareness instruction,

One of the main things is cooperative learning. They all take a role to help each other and there are team leaders who will help the lower students identify and drive our little robots. I see more teamwork and more cooperation with all students, independence to practice with the handheld devices.

Alex said it this way,

I think you know cooperative learning is a great way to learn and um to meet the standards the kids need to meet and um you know I think the different abilities, they all bring different things to the table. I think grouping them that way is also beneficial.

Barbara mentioned cooperative learning in her classroom and this is what she had to say about it, "We use a lot of Kagan like structures; uh we have our knee to knee, eye-to-eye partners or elbow partners."

**Praise.** Ann said, "Oh, and I also hear a lot of good praise from the students, "You did that right, you did not get that last time now you got it." So a lot of individual praise, which helps the learning." Alex added to this when she said, "They're so excited they're very positive, their interaction with their peers is very positive if someone is struggling and not getting the answer they you know they are very great at giving hints or you know if someone's having a hard time they can relate that to some other word or other experience. It's just; it's just great to see them becoming little teachers."

**Teamwork and collaboration.** Ann praised the Bee-Bots for teamwork when she said, "I see more teamwork and more cooperation with all students. So the kids are actually helping each other fix errors to learn in a better environment." Betty had this to add about working together in groups, "I think that any student that's distracted easily from whole group instruction they would benefit from it."

## **Meeting Requirements for Technology Integration**

Since the Bee-Bot is a handheld technology tool the device can help teachers meet requirements for technology integration in Kindergarten. Each of the teachers mentioned the need for technology education in the classroom because of the types of students being taught in this digital world. Two themes came up including: (a) parent comments and (b) technology standards.

**Parent comments.** Ann commented on technology integration when she stated what her parents had been saying at conferences,

The parents say, they come in for the parent-teacher conferences, and they wanted to know what the kids were talking about. These baby robots that they hear about them at home all the time. So the parents were very interested watching at the parent-teachers how it involved their child's learning and were amazed that the kids could actually do this much technology at the Kindergarten level. And last year when I did not have the Bee-Bot, there was nothing that excited them. They did not even know how to tell their parents how they were learning the sounds.

The students take more ownership in their own growth, both socially and academically, when they demonstrate the use of the handheld device and at the same time show their joy for using it. The modeling and use of the handheld devices helped the Kindergarten students gain the essential knowledge needed to master the technology standards provided in the curriculum mapping guidelines.

Alex added this when she mentioned sharing the Bee-Bots with her parents:

I've actually had several kids want a Bee-Bot for Christmas and their parents are wondering what these Bee-Bots are. I've showed them to my parents at conferences and a couple of parents that have volunteered in the classroom have had the opportunity to work with them and um they are very user friendly and um my parents keep telling me how excited their kids are to be using them. They're so excited that they got to use the Bee-Bot today and they say they got to play with it so they are using it to learn and so they are so excited with playing with

this technology and this toy that they don't even realize that they are working on you know phonemic awareness or numerals or whatever your working on for that day, so.

Having parent involvement in the classroom during phonemic awareness lesson and being able to view the Bee-Bots in action is another way that parents help students meet the technology standards and work toward the skills needed to advance to first grade and beyond.

Technology standards. The control group teachers thought that Kindergarten students needed a variety of tools and strategies to keep students learning and showing growth with academics. Betty believes that teaching with technology can not be the only thing teachers use and she said it this way, "I just think that you know using technology is a benefit when you use it to enhance it, obviously not using it as the only lesson." Betty also had this to say when asked about using Bee-Bots, "I think I would have utilized the Bee-Bots because students of this generation are very familiar with technology, having something that they can touch, and move I think is very useful to enrich their understanding of concepts." Another point of view can from Alex when she said, "I think the Bee-Bots and the using that type of technology provides opportunity for all the students. You know I think that if you can just put any kind of technological spin on something it turns a boring lesson into something. Like I said before if the kids are engaged then they're gonna retain and I think the Bee-Bots have done that for my classroom."

## **Integration of Quantitative and Qualitative Data**

Statistically there was no significant difference between the two groups during their phonemic awareness lessons, one using the Bee-Bot handheld devices and one not using them. The ANCOVA resulted in the null hypothesis being accepted. In the qualitative portion of the study interviews of the four Kindergarten teachers were conducted and the findings explained how the two groups viewed how the Bee-Bots were an engaging tool for their students and served well for small group work to enhance social growth and impacting learning, but despite these benefits, the device was not an overly effective teaching tool that impacts learning in the area of phonemic awareness. The handheld devices were viewed as a teaching tool that worked with small groups and helped build such skills as cooperative learning, team work, technology and leadership, but was viewed as a hindrance for students and teachers because of the amount of time to set up lessons and student interpretations of the tool itself, sometimes being called a toy.

## **Evidence of Quality**

To ensure the validity and accuracy of the study, accepted research procedures and practices were followed. The researcher obtained permission to hold the study in both school districts through letters of cooperation from district officials (Appendices A and B) and participant forms were signed by all four-Kindergarten teachers (Appendix G). The four teacher interviews were recorded and then transcribed by the researcher. The transcripts were then shared with the teachers to ensure that the contents of the transcripts were accurate. The transcripts can be found in appendices I, J, K and L and the teachers were given pseudonyms to ensure confidentiality.

# **Discrepant Cases**

According to Teddlie & Yu (2007) discrepant cases are situations where the explanation cannot account or fit the norm and the outcome is neither an exception nor contradiction, just simply something different. In the research analysis no such case was discovered. The four interviews provided information that was consistent with what would be expected with traditional Kindergarten teaching and the use of manipulatives. Chapter 5 will address the interpretation of the findings from the study, the implications for social change, recommendations for action, and recommendations for further study.

#### Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Early childhood literacy programs include the use of phonemic awareness in emerging reading development and stress the importance of these skills in order for students to become fluent readers by third grade (Chard, Pikulski, & Templeton, 2000; Flanigan, 2007; Morris, Bloodgood, Loma, & Perrey, 2003; O'Connor, 2008; Pinnell & Fountas, 1998; Powers, Price, & Jonson, 2006). According to Padak and Rasinski (2008) technology is a frequent teaching tool for 21<sup>st</sup> century learners, engaging them and allowing for a faster rate of proficiency. No study was found which explored the use of Bee-Bot handheld devices in a Kindergarten classroom to improve phonemic awareness.

The purpose of this research was to evaluate the impact of Bee-Bot handheld devices on phonemic awareness in traditional Kindergarten classroom. Two research questions guided the investigation:

- Are there significant differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for Kindergarten students using the handheld devices and Kindergarten students not using the handheld devices?
- 2. What are teachers' perception of the ways handheld devices support or do not support Kindergarten student development of phonemic awareness?

This mixed-method sequential study focused on the impact of handheld devices on phonemic awareness in a traditional Kindergarten classroom. The research addressed teacher perceptions of the use of the Bee-Bots with Kindergarten students to enhance student achievement in phonemic awareness. DIBELS scores were collected and analyzed from four Kindergarten classrooms, two using Bee-Bots and two not using Bee-

Bots during phonemic awareness lessons. ANCOVA was calcualted using SPSS software to answer the research question. Interviews of all four Kindergarten teachers were conducted as part of the qualitative results using pre-determined questions (see Appendices C & D).

There was not a significant difference between the group using the Bee-Bot handheld devices and the group not using them during phonemic awareness lessons as measured by DIBELS test of phonemic awareness. According to the ANCOVA results, the null hypothesis was accepted. A conclusion was drawn by the researcher from the four teacher interviews in the qualitative portion of the study that both groups felt that the Bee-Bot handheld device was an engaging tool for students and served well for small group interventions and enrichments, but was not a teaching tool that should be used solely for academic achievement. Bee-Bot was viewed as having a positive impact on (a) assessments, (b) engagement, (c) strategies, (d) social growth, and (e) technology integration. The five categories were then summarized showing themes among the interviews. Themes were identified as (a) leadership, (b) skill development, (c) differentiated instruction, (d) time on task, (e) interactive activities, (f) enjoyment for learning, (g) hands on learning, (h) time management, (i) cooperative learning, (j) praise, (k) team work and collaboration, (l) parent comments and (m) technology standards. On the other hand, all four teachers viewed the Bee-Bot as a manipulative that took time to learn for the teacher and students, and it caused problems with some students because of the wait time to take turns. The teachers agreed that no one tool, including technology devices, should replace traditional direct oral instruction for phonemic awareness.

#### **Interpretation of Findings**

Research question 1 explored the early reading growth differences between the phonemic awareness DIBELS score (ISF) for students using the handheld devices and students not using the handheld devices. Archived DIBELS scores from fall 2009 and winter 2010 were collected on 76 students for their phonemic awareness measurement. The two treatment groups were compared using Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA) to adjust for previous levels of performance. According to the ANCOVA, no significant differences were found between the two groups of Kindergarten students, one using the Bee-Bot handheld devices and the other not using the Bee-Bot handheld devices.

While the results of the ANCOVA indicated that there were no significant differences between the two groups of Kindergarten students on their DIBELS phonemic awareness scores, there was equal growth between the two groups. The growth indicated that the use of the Bee-Bot handheld devices was equally effective as other manipulatives and strategies used by the teachers during phonemic awareness lessons. These findings support the research done by Menzies, Mahdavi, and Lewis (2008) who indicated that there has been limited success with the actual practice of teaching phonemic awareness using specialized methods and raising student achievement. Because the Bee-Bot handheld devices were equally valuable to the development of phonemic awareness as the traditional strategies, their inclusion in Kindergarten classrooms may be important, given the other benefits that were discovered in this study.

This study was based, in part, on the constructivist theory of Dewey (1938). This theory purports the idea that learners construct knowledge for themselves and each

learner individually (and socially) constructs meaning as he or she learns. Dewey was instrumental in making the qualities of curriculum more meaningful for young children by helping them retain learning through a constructivist approach and a real-world environment in the classrooms. Using handheld devices in Kindergarten classrooms during phonemic awareness helps students learn through a constructivist, hands-on, and 21<sup>st</sup> century experience that offers real-world applications. Further research needs to be done over a longer period of time to see if there would be a difference in outcomes.

Research question 2 established the teachers' perceptions of the ways handheld devices supported or did not support student development of phonemic awareness.

Interviews of all four Kindergarten teachers were conducted to determine their perceptions and also to discover best practices for teaching phonemic awareness. The interviews were analyzed through a color coding process to determine themes for each of the predetermined categories and several emerged. The categories that were derived from the review of literature included (a) assessment, (b) engagement, (c) strategies and (d) reasons to use or not use Bee-Bots. Of these categories only the first three were determined to be useful based on the data analysis, so category (d) was eliminated because this category was integrated into all of the others. Two other categories were found to be necessary: (a) social growth and (b) technology standards.

The themes that were discovered in the category of assessment included leadership, skills development and differentiated instruction. In the category of engagement these themes that emerged were time on task, interactive activities and enjoyment for learning. Strategies included the themes of hands-on and time

management. Social growth included cooperative learning, praise, and team work and collaboration for the themes. Finally, in the category of technology integration the themes found included both parent comments and 21<sup>st</sup> century learning.

This research supports the work of Morrow, Barnhart, and Rooyakkers (2002) who indicated that, in order to prepare students for both formal education and the real-world, professional educators must recognize the impact that technology has on literacy instruction. Their research findings found that technology, when used as a teaching tool, had been shown to enhance reading skills, which included phonemic awareness. Three of the four Kindergarten teachers were surprised that, statistically speaking there, was no difference on the DIBELS scores between the two groups. All four of the teachers believed that the Bee-Bot could engage students and create fun lessons for students, while meeting technology standards. The interviews concluded that the Kindergarten teachers believed that the handheld devices could help students achieve growth both socially and with 21st century skills.

This study supports the work of Montessori (1965) who believed that children had a need for tools that fit their little hands and they had a need to work independently while exploring their surroundings in an effort to gain useful knowledge. The Bee-Bot handheld devices had an impact on students providing them with an engaging experience while learning phonemic awareness and meeting technology requirements.

In the category of assessment, three themes emerged: (a) leadership, (b) skills development, and (c) differentiated instruction. Through formal and informal assessments the teachers discovered that Bee-Bot handheld devices could help build

leadership skills, which provided peer-coaching opportunities for the advanced students and additional opportunities for learning for students needing additional practice. By working in groups and using manipulatives, students could build their skills and master phonemic awareness. The groups were structured in a way that provided a strong basis of differentiated instruction that helped all students learn. Bee-Bot activities can provide teachers with a snapshot of what students know or do not know, through observation. Beal and Bers (2006) discussed the concept of the zone of proximal development (ZPD) and observations of students, which have been extremely influential in both child development research and educational research.

Differentiated instruction is an area that links to the theorist Dewey and supports his work. The research indicated that teachers should observe their students and gain knowledge of what they need and then determine what to do next to ensure key learning points happen (Dewey, 1938). Once the needs have been determined and the learning begins, teachers will observe students gaining skills needed to succeed in Kindergarten and beyond.

This research and findings on skill development and leadership support the work of Dieterle (2008) whose research sought to determine the problems and possibilities, as well as the potential and limitations of using handhelds in education. The work with Bee-Bots followed this same research giving both positive aspects to using them with students and also allowing for possibilities of leadership responsibilities and new skills.

Engagement appeared to be an area that impacted all four classrooms in a positive manner, whether through the use of Bee-Bots or through the use of other manipulatives.

In reviewing the category of engagement three themes were found: (a) time on task, (b) interactive activities, and (c) enjoyment of learning. All four teachers believed that engagement was important at this age and would help ensure a greater level of student achievement in phonemic awareness. By using manipulatives and other teaching tools, like the Bee-Bot, teachers found that students remained on task longer. The lessons with the Bee-Bot were found to be interactive and carried an enjoyment of learning for students. With sound, movement, and lights the Bee-Bot is an attractive and motivating tool that can engage students and keep them learning, especially with sub-categories.

The research associated with time on task supports the work of Villano (2007). He stated that anything that can be played on a handheld computer device has instructional potential and over time will raise student achievement. Students learn when they are engaged and the longer the time-on-task the more learning that the student will possess. This finding is not supported by the teacher interviews because the traditional manipulative teaching tools were equally effective to learning and time on task for students as were the Bee-Bot handheld devices.

Preferred practices or strategies was the next category and from this came two themes. The themes were hands-on and time management. All of the teachers believed that Bee-Bot and other manipulatives provided hands-on learning in phonemic awareness and helped students achieve. Teachers were concerned about time management when using the Bee-Bot. Teachers brought up the fact that students had to wait for their individual turn and this could cause problems with behavior. For teachers, preparing lessons and setting up took time at the beginning of the program. With all new programs,

there is a learning curve for both teachers and students and often extra time to prepare and evaluate lessons, but once the program is in place and working the time management may become a more positive thing. Because of the learning curve for teachers and students, the benefits of Bee-Bots on the development of phonemic awareness may take longer to measure with an instrument like DIBELS than the four months duration of the study.

The findings from the teacher interviews supported the work of Montessori (1965) who strived to ensure that young students had small devices to use when learning. The Bee-Bot is a handheld tool that was created for early-childhood education and provided for hands-on learning during phonemic awareness lessons. The hands-on learning also allows for them to be more creative and independent with their learning.

Kindergarten is the first formal year in public education for most students and one of the main focuses is social growth. In the category of social growth three themes came about and included cooperative learning, praise, and teamwork and collaboration. All of the classrooms made use of cooperative learning and during those interactions students found positive praise for each other. The teachers using the Bee-Bots also found that teamwork and collaboration was a skill that students gained and appeared to improve students' skills.

These findings supported the research work of Alexiou-Ray (2008) who believed that by using handheld devices with students of all ages they would gain different attitudes about learning and would grow both academically and socially over time. Her literature supported the use of technology, specifically handheld devices, to improve

students' growth. When students have good attitudes and begin to socially praise each other as peer coaches then they begin to learn and grow together.

The final category was meeting technology standards and two themes emerged. They were parent comments and 21<sup>st</sup> century learning. The classrooms using the Bee-Bots for phonemic awareness noted that parents made comments about the positive use of Bee-Bots and technology in the Kindergarten classroom. All of the classrooms made use of a variety of technology tools to meet the requirements for 21<sup>st</sup> century learning. The classrooms in district A made use of Promethean boards and the classrooms in district B used SMART boards. Teachers noted they also used computers, educational software, and listening centers to teach students.

Having parents involved in student learning and technology supports the work of Beals and Bers (2006). They stated that in the early childhood classroom that parental support is an important key to learning with young children who use technology tools in the classroom. The Bee-Bot is a useful technology tool for phonemic awareness based on interviews. The input from parents also showed that the concept of having the handheld devices in the classroom for phonemic awareness was supported by the research.

## **Theoretical Implications**

No significant differences were found in phonemic awareness scores between the groups using Bee-Bot handheld devices and the groups not using them so the null hypothesis was accepted. The theories of Dewey (1938) and Montessori (1965) both encouraged the use of authentic experimental activities for learners. The Bee-Bots can help teach students technology applications that may benefit them as they move through

the educational process and into adulthood and become productive citizens. According to the experimental teachers using the Bee-Bots helped students with leadership and hands-on discovery, which are both areas that Montessori (1965) supported with early childhood students. She believed that learning independently would build skills like these and students would show growth because students learn to work independently while experiencing their surroundings and this builds knowledge and skills needed for the future. Also, by building leadership skills, as early as Kindergarten, students may gain skills they need to continue learning and to become productive adults. This type of leadership grows peer coaching among the students and cooperation and other lifelong skills begin to emerge.

Dewey (1938) reported that progressive learning rather than traditional learning was better for students because lessons and activities fit the student and his or her learning style, which is a key point to student growth and 21<sup>st</sup> century learning. As students are placed into learning groups peer coaching will take over leaders will emerge, and an enjoyment of learning will take over allowing more time on task and development of the skills needed to succeed in the real world.

Dewey (1938) believed that lessons should fit the student and differentiated learning is one way of allowing this to happen for students. He believed that critical thinking and experiential learning through collaborative efforts would help students grow and the Bee-Bots provided teamwork for these things to happen. All of the teachers used forms of differentiated learning and collaboration to teach students phonemic awareness. It may be that the strategies, rather than the tools used to implement the strategies are

more important to the development of phonemic awareness, thus explaining why there was no difference between the two experimental groups in this study.

Bee-Bots meet the criteria for learning established by both theories because the device is made for early childhood students and supports the idea of small tools for small hands (Montessori, 1965). Using technology, like the Bee-Bot, supports the idea of the constructivist learning with real-world application (Dewey, 1938). As students work together in small groups they form leadership and social skills, both of which are real-world skills. Using the handheld devices also allows students to meet the technology standards needed to become successful students and later citizens. These theories support research question 2 demonstrating how the teachers perceived the use of the handheld devices during phonemic awareness and how this supports these theories.

The students using the Bee-Bot handheld devices did not have significant gains in phonemic awareness scores over the group not using them after four months of use. They do show promise for the two school districts, and others like them, with the integration of an engaging tool for Kindergarten learning. They can also be used as an intervention and enrichment tool for small groups, especially with students in ELL, Title 1, and Special Education. The experimental teachers indicated that their students in the sub-categories showed growth in the classroom when they used the Bee-Bot handheld devices. One teacher explained that her two Special Education students were now at the top of the class in phonemic awareness, while the other teacher indicated that her ELL students showed growth with their acquisition of the English language. This sample of

students was too small to be measured on their DIBELS scores, but the findings for these few students are worthy of future research.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The study took a look at whether or not handheld devices helped with phonemic awareness growth in Kindergarten. It was concluded that there was not a significant statistical difference between the Kindergarten classes that used handheld devices and the Kindergarten classes that did not use them during their phonemic awareness lessons.

The importance of this research is that it provided reliable data on the use of handheld devices in Kindergarten during phonemic awareness lessons and on how teachers perceive the use of handheld devices in the Kindergarten classroom to improve or hinder phonemic awareness lessons. All of the Kindergarten teachers believed that the Bee-Bot handheld devices generated engagement and fun for learning with all students and because of this social growth was improved. Leadership skills, teamwork, and technology integration were also mentioned by the teachers using the Bee-Bots and the teachers not using them agreed that Bee-Bots could add to technology standards as another tool.

My research filled a gap in the literature by providing a study on using handheld devices in the Kindergarten classroom during phonemic awareness. The previously found research provided research on handheld devices and other technologies, but not for instruction in phonemic awareness lessons and not in Kindergarten for phonemic awareness instruction. There were no Bee-Bot studies found and this provides research on their effectiveness in the classroom too.

My findings helped with the professional application of knowledge for teaching phonemic awareness to Kindergarten students. It cannot be said that Bee-Bot handheld devices made a difference with phonemic awareness scores in Kindergarten, but teachers perceived that the devices had an observable and positive impact on student engagement and work well as intervention and enrichment tools, providing hands-on 21<sup>st</sup> century learning to young students. The classroom teachers using the handheld devices during phonemic awareness lessons both mentioned that the Bee-Bots engaged the students and motivated them to continue learning over their more traditional strategies. They also felt that using the Bee-Bot in small groups allowed for more leadership and social opportunities for the students as well as providing them with more of a specific and intentional activity. The activities were meant to serve as interventions to build skills that are lacking or enrichment activities that were meant to challenge the student who were more advanced.

My study promoted the development of individuals, communities, and organizations through efforts to improve phonemic awareness and technology with Kindergarten students. Literacy skills and technology skills are two areas that are necessary to be successful in school and in the community and without these skills students cannot be as effective as citizens as those that have them. The handheld devices offered another tool for developing these skills, along with more traditional tools.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

Based on my findings the first action step is to provide presentations and workshops for early childhood educators on using Bee-Bot handheld devices in their

classrooms. Objectives of such a program would be to provide teachers with strategies to use Bee-Bots in their classrooms to promote teamwork and collaboration, leadership and cooperative learning, engagement and enjoyment of learning, and various ways of using the devices to help student groups for interventions and enrichments.

A second action step would be to encourage both school districts, from this study and then others, to invest in the integration of the Bee-Bot devices in their entire Kindergarten classroom for social instruction and as a teaching tool to engage students, meeting both social skill and technology standards. My research can provide them with data that will help them with their decision-making.

The final action step would be to present my research at local, state and national conventions and conferences so that other educators of Kindergarten and early childhood education can learn how Bee-Bot handheld devices can support student engagement and social growth during phonemic awareness lessons and other areas of education. In conjunction with this scholarly writing will evolve and serve as another outlet for sharing the research about Bee-Bot handhelds and their benefits for young students. Conference might include professional development for Kindergarten at the local level, the Wyoming School Improvement Conference for the state level, ISTE, I Teach K and the National School Board Association (NSBA) T & L conference.

## **Recommendations for Future Research**

This study contributes to the availability of research on Bee-Bot handheld devices in Kindergarten to improve phonemic awareness scores. Further research is needed to determine the following:

- 1. Would Bee-Bot handheld devices have an impact on academic achievement in phonemic awareness if they were used for a longer period of time with a larger sample? This study provided for a 4-month window of time; research over an entire school may confirm or provide different findings. A replication of this study with an additional measure of DIBELS scores in May would provide that insight.
- 2. Do Bee-Bot handheld devices have a positive impact on student achievement of specific student sub-groups like ELL, Special Education, and Title 1 given their traditionally lower baseline assessment scores? This study focused on the entire class, rather than measuring specific sub group scores.
- 3. Does the use of Bee-Bot handheld device for interventions and enrichments improve phonemic awareness? This study focused on the whole group instruction for phonemic awareness, not specifically on interventions and enrichment.
- 4. A study is needed that analyzes Bee-Bot handheld devices on other parts of literacy, including phonics, reading comprehension, and vocabulary.
- 5. A study is needed for teachers use Bee-Bot handheld devices in their classrooms after receiving coaching through professional development to ensure they have specific skills before working with students on different reading skills. This study did not offer teachers professional development on integrating them into the classroom with students.

6. A study of the time-on task and motivation with students using Bee-Bots versus students using more traditional teaching tools would extend the findings of this study and provide more insight into other possible effects.

# **Reflections on the Researchers Personal Experiences**

The researcher must take time to reflect upon personal experiences during the qualitative data collection and analysis. As I interviewed the four Kindergarten teachers I realized that I was like them in many different ways. A year ago I was a Kindergarten teacher with a diverse group of students in a similar environment. The difference was that I had an all-digital laboratory classroom and made use of a variety of handheld devices and manipulatives, which I used for all curriculum areas, not just phonemic awareness. Initially, I had a personal bias in that I thought that because I used handheld devices and saw academic growth in my classroom and had a passion for Bee-Bots, that the results would show evidence that everyone experienced the same results with the handheld devices. However, the results of this study were very different.

After the completion of the interviews, I now believe that handheld devices are not always as effective as I had thought and although they seem to engage students they did not affect student achievement directly as measured in this study. Another bias was that I thought that the teachers not using handheld devices would desire to have their own set of Bee-Bots after observing and discussing with their colleagues the effectiveness of the integration of this tool in the phonemic awareness curriculum. This too was not supported. The teachers who did not make use of the Bee-Bots expressed an interest in using them, but did not seem to show a strong passion for having them immediately and

had a variety of other manipulatives and technologies they could use equally as effectively when teaching phonemic awareness.

Once this study was complete it confirmed for me that the Bee-Bots were not a technology tool for everyone and that other manipulatives and strategies might be as effective or even better for teaching phonemic awareness to an entire Kindergarten class. A variety of resources, teaching tools, and strategies seemed to be a much better mix for the Kindergarten teachers in these four classrooms and although they liked the Bee-Bot it was not the only tool they needed or used for phonemic awareness instruction.

I learned that I must lay aside my bias as a researcher, and after struggling to do so, the story in the data was able to come forth. What I hoped to find in this study wasn't born out by the data. While this was disappointing, I grew as a researcher as a result of this study, and will be better able to conduct research in the future that is unbiased.

#### Conclusion

According to Lacina (2006) children are exposed to technology at a very early age and begin to comprehend how it works, making it an important component of literacy and labeling them telecommunication literate. Yet, even though technology appears to be an important part of literacy instruction to teach today's students there is not a strong case that supports that the Bee-Bot makes a direct impact on student achievement of phonemic awareness. In less than twenty years technology has formed a path into every area of society including social and cultural lives (Strommen & Lincoln, 2009) but has left many teachers with a profound sense of needing to "catch-up" in both their learning and

teaching. This leaves educators with a gap in how they can effectively use technology tools, like Bee-Bots, to enhance student achievement.

Although this research study did not find a significant difference between the two groups it demonstrated that the classrooms using the Bee-Bots did as well as the traditional classrooms on the development of phonemic awareness in Kindergarten children. This provides contributing research to the literature on phonemic awareness and on using Bee-Bot handheld devices in Kindergarten students. It also must be made known that Bee-Bot handheld devices engage students to remain on task longer, help leadership skills develop, and add a true enjoyment to learning for Kindergarten. With these benefits the Bee-Bot handheld devices may begin to have an impact on education in a variety of ways and at the same time provide an easy to use device for technology integration and meeting current technology standards.

#### References

- Adams, M. (1990). Beginning reading instruction in the United States. ERIC Digest [ED321250]. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov
- Alexiou-Ray, J. A. (2008). *Handheld use in an elementary classroom: Student and parental perceptions* [Handout]. 2008 National Education Computing Conference, San Antonio, TX.
- Allor, J. H. Gansle, K. A., & Denny, R. K. (2006). The stop and go phonemic awareness game: Providing, modeling, practice and feedback. *Preventing School Failure*, 50, 23-30. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov
- Ball, E. W., & Blachman, B. A. (1991). Does phoneme awareness training in Kindergarten make a difference in early word recognition and developmental spelling? *Reading Research Quarterly*, 26(1), 49-66. doi:10.1598/RRQ.26.1.3
- Bara, F., Gentaz, E., & Cole, P. (2007). Haptics in learning to read with children from low socioeconomic status families. *British Journal of Developmental*Psychology, 25(4), 643-654. doi:10.1348/026151007X186643
- Baumbach, D., Christopher, T., Fasimpaur, K., & Oliver, K. (2004). Personal literacy assistants: Using handhelds for literacy instruction. *Leading & Learning with Technology*, *32*, 16-21. Retrieved from http://www.learningandleadingdigital.com/learningandleading
- Beals, L., & Bers, M. (2006). Robotic technologies: When parents put their learning ahead of their child's. *Journal of Interactive Learning Research*, 17(4), 341-366. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/pubs/jilr/

- Bennett, K. R., & Cunningham, A. C. (2008). Preservice teachers in action: Formative assessment with handhelds. *Proceedings of society for information technology and teacher education international conference 2008* (pp. 2798-2803).

  Chesapeake, VA: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE).
- Blevins, W. (1998). *Phonics a to z: A practical guide*. New York: Scholastic Professional Books.
- Boardman, M. (2007). Employing digital technologies for documentation processes in Kindergarten. *Australian Journal of Early Childhood, 32*(3), 59-66. Retrieved from http://www.earlychildhoodaustralia.org.au/index.php
- Briggs, L. (2006). Handheld devices: A mobile cause. *T.H.E. Journal*, *33*(8), 20-21. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx
- Burt, L., Holm, A., & Dodd, B. (1999). Phonological awareness skills of 4-year old

  British children: An assessment and developmental data. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, *34*, 311-335.

  doi:10.1080/136828299247432
- Burrell, C., & Trushell, J. (1997). "Eye-candy" in "interactive books": A wholesome diet? *Technology and Literacy*, *31*(2), 3-6. Retrieved from http://www.iteaconnect.org/Publications/publications.htm
- Bus, A. G., & Van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (1999). Phonological awareness and early reading:

  Ameta-analysis of experimental training studies. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(3), 403-414. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.91.3.403

- Byrne, B., & Fielding-Barnsley, R. (1999-2000). Effects of preschool phoneme identity training after six years: Outcome level distinguished. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92(4), 659-567. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.92.4.659
- Cantrell, P., & Knudson, M. S. (2006). Using technology to enhance science inquiry in an outdoor classroom. *Computers in the Schools*, 23, 7-18. doi:10.1300/J025v23n01\_02
- Cardoso-Martins, C., & Pennington, B. F. (2004). The relationship between phoneme awareness and rapid serial naming skills and literacy acquisition: The role of developmental period and reading ability. *Scientific Study of Reading*, 8, 27-52. doi:10.1207/s1532799xssr0801 3
- Carroll, J. M. (2004). Letter knowledge precipitates phoneme segmentation, but not phoneme invariance. *Journal of Research in Reading*, *27*, 212-225. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9817.2004.00228.x
- Carroll, J.A., Kelly, M. G., & Witherspoon, T. L. (2003). *Multidisciplinary units for preKindergarten through grade 2*. Eugene, OR: ISTE Publications.
- Caudill, J. G. (2007). The growth of m-learning and the growth of mobile computing: parallel developments. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 8(2), 1-13. Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl
- Caughlin, J. (2003). *Handhelds for teachers and administrators*. Watertown, MA: Tom Snyder Production.
- Chard, D. J., Pikulski, J. J., & Templeton, S. (2000). From phonemic awareness to

- fluency: Effective decoding instruction in a research-based reading program.

  Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Chen, W., Tan, N. Y. L., Looi, C. K., Zhang, B., & Seow, P. S. K. (2008). Handheld computers as cognitive tools: Technology-enhanced environmental learning.

  \*Research & Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning, 3(3), 231-253.

  \*Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov
- Ching, C. C., Wang, X. C., Shih, M., & Kedem, Y. (2006). Digital photography and journals in a Kindergarten-first grade classroom: Toward meaningful technology integration. *Early Education and Development*, *17*(3), 347-371. doi:10.1142/S1793206808000513
- Clendon, S., Gillon, G., & Yoder, D. (2005). Initial insights into phoneme awareness intervention for children with complex communication needs. *International Journal of Disability: Development and Education*, *52*, 7-31. doi:10.1080/10349120500071878
- Clough, G., Jones, A. C., McAndrew, P., & Scanlon, E. (2008). Informal learning with PDAs and smartphones. *Journal of Computer Assessment Learning*, *24*(5), 359-372. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2729.2007.00268.x
- Cooney, J. G. (2009). U.S. school leaving mobile devices idle. *T. H. E. Journal*, *36*(3), 12. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx
- Daly, E. J., Chafouleas, S. M., Persampieri, M., Bonfiglio, C. M., & LaFleur, K. (2004).

  Teaching phoneme segmenting and blending as critical early literacy skills: An experimental analysis of minimal textual repertoires. *Journal of Behavioral*

- Education, 13, 165-178. doi:10.1023/B:JOBE.0000037627.51167.ea
- Day, C.W. (2007). Engaged learning: The tools of the classroom trade. *American School & University*, 56(10), 56. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov
- Department of Education. (2009). Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/
- DeWitt, S.W. (2006). It is not only about the computers: An argument for broadening the conversation. *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 6(2), 259 -270. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov
- DIBELS Data Systems. (2009). Retrieved from https://dibels.uoregon.edu/
- Dixon, M., Stuart, M., & Masterson, M. (2002). The relationship between phonological awareness and the development of orthographic representations. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, *15*, 295-316.

  doi:10.1023/A:1015200617447
- Dewey, J. (1938, 1986). Experience and education. *Educational Forum 50*(3), 241-252. doi:10.1080/00131728609335764
- Faux, F., McFarlane, A., Roche, N., & Facer, K. (2005). *Handhelds: Learning with handheld technologies: a handbook from Future lab.* Bristol, UK: Futurelab.
- Fien, H., Baker, S., Smolkowski, K., Smith, J., Kame'enui, E., & Beck, C. (2008). Using nonsense word fluency to predict reading proficiency in Kindergarten through second grade for English learners and native English speakers. *School Psychology Review*, *37*(3),391-408. Retrieved from http://www.nasponline.org/publications/spr/sprmain.aspx
- Flanigan, K. (2007). A concept of word in text: A pivotal event in early reading

- acquisition. *Journal of Literacy Research*, *39*(1), 37-70. Retrieved from http://www.nrconline.org/jlr.html
- Foorman, B. R., & Moats, L. C. (2004). Conditions for sustaining research-based practices in early reading instruction. *Remedial & Special Education*, 25(1), 51-60. Retrieved from http://rse.sagepub.com/
- Foorman, B. R., York, M., Santi, K. L., & Francis, D. (2008). Contextual facts on predicting risk for reading difficulties in first and second grade. *Reading and Writing: An interdisciplinary journal*, *21*(4), 371-395. doi:10.1177/07419325040250010601
- Gado, I. & Ferguson, R., & van't Hooft, M. (2006). Using handheld-computers and probe ware in a science methods course: Preservice teachers' attitudes and self-efficacy. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 14*, 501-529. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/PUBS/JTATE/
- Goswami, U., & Bryant, P. (1990). *Phonological skills and learning to read*. East Sussex, UK: Psychology Press.
- Giles, R. M., & K. Wellhousen. (2005). Reading, writing, and running: Literacy learning on the playground. *The Reading Teacher 59*(3), 283-85. database. doi:10.1598/RT.59.3.9
- Gulchak, D. J. (2008). Using a mobile handheld computer to teach a student with an emotional and behavioral disorder to self-monitor attention. *Education and Treatment of Children, 31*, 567-581. doi:10.1353/etc.0.0028
- Halling, S. (2002). Making phenomenology accessible to a wider audience. Journal of

- Phenomenological Psychology. Retrieved from http://www.highbeam.com/myresearchcente
- Hammerton, J. (2008). Learning to segment speech with self-organizing maps.

  Humanities Computing, University of Groningen.
- Hatcher, P. J., Hulme, C., & Snowling, M. J. (2004). Explicit phoneme training combined with phonic reading instruction helps young children at risk of reading failure. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *45*, 338-358. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00225.x
- Hesketh, A., Dima, E., & Nelson, V. (2007). Teaching phoneme awareness to pre-literate children with speech disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 42, 251-271.
   doi:10.1080/13682820600940141
- Hintze, J. M., Ryan, A. L., & Stoner, G. (2003). Concurrent validity and diagnostic accuracy of the dynamic indicators of basic early literacy skills and the comprehensive test of phonological processing. *School Psychology Review*, *32*, 541-556. Retrieved from http://www.nasponline.org/publications/spr/sprmain.aspx
- Hodkinson, P., & Hodkinson, H. (2001). The strengths and limitations of case study research. University of Leeds: Making an impact on policy and practice conference, Cambridge.
- International Reading Association (IRA). (2009). Retrieved from: http://www.reading.org

- International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) (2007). Retrieved from http://www.iste.org/
- Ip, K., Chu, S., & Sit, D. K. N. (2008). Primary students' reading habits of printed and e-Books. Retrieved from http://web.edu.hku.hk/academic\_staff.php?staffId=samchu
- Irving, K., Sanalan, V., & Shirley, M. (2009). Physical science connected classroom:

  Case study. *Journal of Computers in Mathematics & Science Teaching*, 28(3),

  247-276. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/pubs/jcmst/
- Johnston, J. M., Leung, G. M., Tin, K. Y. K., Ho, L. M., Lam, W., & Fielding, R. (2004). Evaluation of a handheld clinical decision support tool for evidence-based learning and practice in medical undergraduates. *Medical Education*, *38*, 628-637. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2929.2004.01842.x
- Jonassen, D. H., Howland, J., Moore, J., & Marra, R. M. (2003). *Learning to solve*problems with technology: A Constructive perspective. Upper Saddle River, NJ:

  Pearson Education.
- Kaminski, R. A., & Good, R. H. (1996). Toward a technology for assessing basic early literacy skills. *School of Psychology Review*, *25*(5), 215-228. Retrieved from http://www.nasponline.org/publications/spr/sprmain.aspx
- Kenwright, K. (2009). Clickers in the classroom. *Tech Trends: Linking Research & Practice to Improving Learning*, *53*(1), 74-77. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/education/learning+&+instruction/
- Kopera, J., Norris, C., Soloway, E., & Curtis, M. (2004). Palm OS handheld in the

- elementary classroom: Curriculum and strategies. Danvers, MA: ISTE Publication.
- Lacina, J. (2006). Virtual record keeping: Should teachers keep online grade books?. *Childhood Education*, 88(4), 254-256. Retrieved from http://acei.org/
- Lai, C., Wu, C., Kao, H., & Chen, S. (2008). Handheld concept mapping tool for cooperative learning. Taiwan: National Taiwan Normal University.
- Lane, K. L., Menzies, H. M., Munton, S. M., Von Duering, Rebecca M., & English, G. (2005). The effects of a supplemental early literacy program for a student at risk:

  A case study. *Preventing School Failure 50*(1), 21-28.

  doi:10.3200/PSFL.50.1.21-28
- Looney, M.A. (2005). Giving students a 21<sup>st</sup> century education. *T. H. E. Journal*, *33*(2), 58. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx
- Lucas, L. K. and McKee, J. G. (2007). Teacher perceptions and the use of technology in the classroom: Do perceptions impact P-12 learning? *Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education, New York.* Retrieved from http://aacte.org/
- Marston, D., Pickart, M., Reschly, A., Heistad, D., Muyskens, P., & Tindal, G. (2007).

  Early literacy measures for improving student reading achievement: Translating student achievement into practice. *Exceptionality*, *15*(2), 97-117. Retrieved from http://journalseek.net/cgibin/journalseek/
- Marzano, R. J. (2009). Evaluation study of the effects of Promethean ActivClassroom on Student Achievement. Marzano Research Laboratory: Englewood, Co.

- McBee, C. (2009). Bee-bot lessons. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Publishers.
- McCaughtry, N., & Dillon, S. R. (2008). Learning to use pda's to enhance teaching: The perspective of Preservice physical educators. *Journal of Technology & Teacher Education*, *16*(4), 483-509. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/PUBS/JTATE/
- Menzies, H. M., Mahdavi, J. N., &Lewis, J. L. (2008). Early intervention in reading: From research to practice. *Remedial and Special Education*, *29*(2), 67-77. doi:10.1177/0741932508315844
- Mitnik, R., Nussbaum, M., & Recabarren, M. (2009). Developing cognition with collaborative robotics activities. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society,* 12(4), 317-331. Retrieved from http://www.ifets.info/
- Mooney, C. G. (2000). An introduction to Dewey, Montessori, Erikson, Piaget, and Vygotsky. St. Paul, MN: Redleaf Press.
- Montessori, M. (1965). Dr. Montessori's own handbook: A short guide to her ideas and materials. New York, NY: Schocken Books.
- Morris, D., Bloodgood, J. W., Lomax, R. G., & Perney, J. (2003). Developmental steps in learning to read: A longitudinal study in Kindergarten and first grade. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 38(3), 302-328. doi:10.1598/RRQ.38.3.1
- Musti-Rao, S., & Cartledge. (2007). Effects of a supplemental early reading intervention with at-risk urban learners. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, *27*, 70-85. doi:10.1177/02711214070270020301
- Nancollis, A., Lawrie, B. A., & Dodd, B. (2005). Phonological awareness intervention and the acquisition of literacy skills in children from deprived social backgrounds.

- Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 36, 325-335. doi:10.1044/0161-1461(2005/032)
- National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC). (1996; 2009).

  Retrieved October 10, 2009 from the Official Web site http://www.naeyc.org/.
- National Reading Panel Publications and Materials. (2009). Retrieved October 10, 2009 from the NRP Official Web site: http://www.nationalreadingpanel.org/.
- Otaiba, S. A., & Fuchs, D. (2006). Who are the young children for who best practices in reading are effective? *Journal of Learning Disability*, 39(5), 418-436. Retrieved from http://ldx.sagepub.com/
- O'Conner, R. E. (2006). Teaching word recognition: Effective strategies for students with learning difficulties. New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Olswang, L. B. Svensson, L., Coggins, T. E., Beilinson, J. S., & Donaldson, A. L. (2006).

  Reliability issues and solutions for coding social communication performances in classrooms settings. *Journal of Speech, Language, & Hearing Research, 49*(5), 1058-1072. doi:10.1044/1092-4388(2006/075)
- Oudeans, M. K. (2003). Integration of letter-sound correspondences and phonological awareness skills of blending and segmenting: A pilot study examining the effects of instructional sequence on word reading for Kindergarten children with low phonemic awareness. [Electronic version]. Learning Disability Quarterly, 26(4), 258-281. doi:10.2307/1593638
- Padak, N., & Rasinski, T. (2008). The Games Children Play. Reading Teacher, 62(4), 363-365. doi:10.1598/RT.62.4.11

- Penuel, W. R. (2005). Implementing a handheld program: Lessons for district level initiative. *Learning & Leading with Technology, 32*, 6-10. Retrieved from http://www.learningandleading-digital.com/learningandleading
- Penuel, W. R., & Yarnall, L. (2005). Designing handheld software to support classroom assessment: An analysis of conditions of teacher adoption. *Journal of Technology, Learning, and Assessment, 3*(5), 46. Retrieved from http://escholarship.bc.edu/jtla/
- Phonemic awareness and the teaching of reading. (2009). Retrieved October 10, 2009 from the IRS Official Web site: http://www.reading.org
- Piaget, J. (1969, 2000). The psychology of the child. Basic Books, Inc., Paris, France.
- Pinnell, G. S., & Fountas, I. C. (1998). Word matters. Heinemann, Portsmouth, NH.
- Plaza, M., & Cohen, H. (2006). The contribution of phonological awareness and visual attention in early reading and spelling. *Dyslexia*, *13*, 67-76. doi:10.1002/dys.330
- Pownell, D., & Bailey, G. D. (2003). *Administrative solutions for handheld technology in schools*. Eugene, OR: ISTE Publication.
- Pownell, D., & Bailey, G. D. (2003). Staff development. *Administrative solutions for handheld technology in schools*, (pp. 83-91). ISTE Publication provided by the author.
- Powers, S., & Price-Johnson, C. (2006). Evaluation of the Waterford early reading program in Kindergarten. *Creative Research Associates, Inc.*
- Preston, C. & Mowbray, L. (2008). Use of SMART boards for teaching, learning and assessment in Kindergarten science. *Teaching Science*, *54*(2), 50-51. Retrieved

- from http://www.nsta.org/publications/journals.aspx
- Priest, N. (2006). 'Motor magic': Evaluation of a community capacity-building approach to supporting the development of preschool children. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, *53*(3), 220-232. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1630.2006.00546.x
- Promethean, Inc. (2009). Retrieved from http://www.prometheanworld.com
- Pulman, A. (2007). Can a handheld gaming device be used as an effective assistance technology tool? *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *38*(3), 532-534. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8535.2007.00719.x
- Ramaswami, R. (2008). Fill'er Up! What to do with all those cell phones, PDA's, and iPods tucked away in students' backpacks?. *T.H.E. Journal*, *35*(5), 32-34. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx
- Ranson, S. L., Boothby, J., Mazmanian, P. E., & Alvanzo, A. (2007). Use of personal digital assistance (PDA) in reflective online learning and practice. *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Profession*, 27(4), 227-233. doi:10.1002/chp.142
- Reading, S., & Van Duran, D. (2007). Phonemic awareness: When and how much to teach. *Reading Research and Instruction*, 46, 267-286. Retrieved from http://www.collegereadingassociation.org/rri.html
- Richards, C, Leafstedt, J. M., & Gerber, M. M. (2006). Qualitative and quantitative examination of low-performing Kindergarten English learners. *Remedial and Special Education*, *27*(4), 218-234. doi:10.1177/07419325060270040301

- Roblyer, M. D. (2006). *Integrating educational technology into teaching*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Publication.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2005). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data*.

  Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rouse, R. L., & Fantuzzo, J. W. (2006). Validity of the dynamic indicators for basic early literacy skills as an indicator of early literacy for urban Kindergarten children. *School of Psychology Review, 35*, 341-355. Retrieved from http://www.nasponline.org/publications/spr/sprmain.aspx
- Rusk, N, Resnick, M., Berg, R., & Pezalla-Granlund. (2008). New pathways into robotics: Strategies for broadening participation. *Journal of Scientific Educational Technology*, 17, 59-69. doi:10.1007/s10956-007-9082-2
- Scott, J. (2003). Don't forget the little people: Vision for an online Kindergarten learning community. *T.H.E. Journal*, *30*(7), 40-41. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx
- Shamir, A., & Korat, O. (2007). Developing an educational e-Book for fostering

  Kindergarten children's emergent literacy. *Computers in the Schools*, *24*, 125143. doi:10.1300/J025v24n01 09
- Shamir, A., & Korat, O. (2006). How to select CD-ROM storybooks for young children: The teacher's role. *The Reading Teacher*, *59*(6), 532-544. doi:10.1598/RT.59.6.3
- Snow, C. E., Burns, S., & Griffin, P. (1998). *Preventing reading difficulties in young children*. Retrieved from http://www.nap.edu
- Song, Y. (2007). Educational uses of handheld devices: What are the consequences?

- Tech Trends: Linking Research and Practice to Improve Learning, 38(8), 38-45.

  Retrieved form http://search.ebscohost.com/
- Squire, K., & Klopfer, E. (2007). Augmented reality simulation on handheld computers.

  \*Journal of the Learning Sciences, 16(3), 371-414. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/education/learning+&+instruction/journal/11528
- Strommen, E. F., & Lincoln, B. (1992). Constructivism, technology and the future of classroom learning. *Education of Urban Society*, *24*(4), 466. doi:10.1177/0013124592024004004
- Tallett, S., Lingard, L., Leslie, K., Pirie, J., Jefferies, A., Spero, L. Schneider, R., Hilliard,
  R., Rosenfield, J., Hellmann, J., Mian, M., & Hurley, J. (2008). Measuring
  educational workload: a pilot study of paper-based and pda tools. *Medical Teacher*, 30(3), 296-301. doi:10.1080/01421590701852658
- Technology and young children: Ages 3-8. (2008). Retrieved October 10, 2009 from the NAEYC Official Web site: http://www.naeyc.org
- Teddlie, C. & Yu, F. (2007). Mixed-methods sampling: A topology with examples.

  \*\*Journal of Mixed-methods Research, 1(1), 77-100.\*\*

  doi:10.1177/2345678906292430
- Tomlinson, C. (2003). Fulfilling the promise of the differentiated classroom: Strategies and tools for responsive teaching. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Trochim, W. (2006). *The Research Methods Knowledge Base*. Atomic Dog Publishing. Tschirgi, D., & Marzano, R. J. (2007). How can a document camera help in a classroom.

- Best Practices in School Technology, p. 24-25.
- Uhry, J. K. (2002). Finger-point reading in Kindergarten: The role of phonemic awareness, one-to-one correspondence, and rapid serial naming. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *6*, 319-342. doi:10.1207/S1532799XSSR0604 02
- Underdahl, B. (2004). iPaq for dummies. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Publishing.
- University of Oregon Center on Teaching and Learning (2009). Retrieved October 10, 2009 from the DIBELS official Web site: www.dibels.uoregon.edu
- Van Hover, S. D., Berson, M. J., Bolick, C.M., & Swan, K.O. (2006). Implications of ubiquitous computing for the social studies curriculum (Republished).
  Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education, 6, 275-283.
  Retrieved from http://www.citejournal.org/vol9/iss4/
- van 't Hooft, M.A. (2005). The effect of handheld technology use in pre-service social studies education on the attitudes of future teachers toward technology integration in social studies (Doctoral Dissertation, Kent State University Graduate School of Education, June 2005) as provided by the author.
- van 't Hooft, M. A. H., & Kelly, J. (2004). Macro or micro: Teaching fifth-grade economics using handheld computers. *Social Education*, 68(2), 165-168. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov
- Vaughn, S., Linn-Thompson, S., Kouzekanani, K., Bryant, D. P., Dickson, S., & Blozis,
  S. A. (2003). Reading instruction grouping for students with reading difficulties.
  Remedial & Special Education, 24(5), 301-316.
  doi:10.1177/07419325030240050501

- Vloedgraven, J. M. T., & Verhoeven, L. (2007). Screening of phonological awareness in the early elementary grades: An IRT approach, *The International Dyslexia Association*, *57*, 33-50. doi:10.1007/s11881-007-0001-2
- Villano, M. (2007). A Handful of learning, *T.H.E .Journal*, *34*(12), 22-23. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Wang, C., Jaruszewicz, C., Rosen, D., Berson, I., Bailey, M., Hartle, L., Griebling, S., Buckleitner, W., Blagojevic, B., & Robinson, L. (2008). Meaningful technology integration in early learning environments, *Young Children*, p. 48-50. Retrieved from http://www.naeyc.org/yc/
- Wangemann, P., Lewis, N., & Squires, D. A. (2003). Portable technology comes of age.

  \*T.H.E. Journal, 31(4), 26-28, 30, 32. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx
- Warlick, D. F. (2004). *Redefining literacy for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century*. Santa Barbara, CA: Linworth Publishing.
- Waters, J. K. (2009). All hands on technology. *T. H. E. Journal*, *36*(1), 14-16. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx
- Wepner, S. B., Valmont, W. J., & Thurlow, R. (2000). *Linking literacy and technology:*A guide for K-8 classrooms. International Reading Association, Newark, DE.
- Wing, S. C., Khe, F. H. (2009). A review of research methodologies used in studies on mobile handheld devices in K-12 and higher education settings. *Australasian*

- Journal of Educational Technology, 25(2), 153-184. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov
- Williams, B. (2006). Harnessing handhelds and smartphones. *Handheld computers and smartphones in secondary schools*, (pp. 59-70). ISTE Publication provided by the author.
- Wilson, J., & Calmar, S. (2008). Re-evaluating the significance of phonemic awareness and phonics in literacy teaching: the shared role of school counselors and teachers. *Australian Journal of Guidance & Counseling, 18*(2), 89-106. doi:10.1375/ajgc.18.2.89
- Wright, J. L., & Shade, D. D. (1994). *Young children: Active learners in a technological age*. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Waycott, J., Jones, A., & Scanlon, E. (2005). PDA's as lifelong learning tool: An activity theory based analysis. *Learning, Media & Technology*, 30(2), 107-131. doi:10.1080/17439880500093513
- Yavas, M. S., & Gogate, L. J. (1999). Phoneme awareness in children: A Function of sonority. *Journal of Psycholinguistic Research*, 28, 245-260. doi:10.1023/A:1023254114696
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case Study Research Design and Methods (4<sup>th</sup> ed)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, Inc.
- Young, M.C., Mullen, L., & Stuve, M. (2005). Are PDAs pedagogically feasible for young children?. *THE Journal*, *32*(8), 40-42. Retrieved from http://thejournal.com/Home.aspx

- Yopp, H. K. (1995). A Test for assessing phonemic awareness in young children. *The Reading Teacher*, 49, 20-29. doi:10.1598/RT.49.1.3
- Zevenbergen, R., & Logan, H. (2008). Computer use by preschool children. *Australian Journal of Early Childhood, 33*(1), 37-44. Retrieved from http://www.earlychildhoodaustralia.org.au/index.php
- Zeece, P. D. (2006). Sound reading and reading sounds: The case of phonemic awareness. *Early Childhood Educational Journal*, *34*(2), 169-175. doi:10.1007/s10643-006-0125-8

# Appendix A: Letter of Cooperation School District A



School District Number One

Sweetwater County • P.O. Box 1089 • Rock Springs, Wyoming 82902-1089 • (307) 352-3400 FAX (307) 352-3456

Mike Lopiccolo, Director Elementary Secondary Education / Human Resources

February 10, 2010

Cristy Magagna-McBee PO Box 548 Green River, WY 82935

Dear Cristy:

I did have the opportunity to review your research proposal that is entitled The Use of Handheld Devices for Improved Phonemic Awareness in a Traditional Kindergarten Classroom with Sweetwater County School District Number One. You have requested to be able to access the DIBELS results for the fall of 2009 and winter of 2010 from kindergarten classes at Sage Elementary School. These DIEBELS results will not include student identifiers when given to you. Two kindergarten teachers, one using handheld devices and one not using hand held devices, with their permission may be interviewed for this research project. On behalf of Sweetwater County School District Number One, I authorize the approval of your research proposal.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from Sweetwater County School District Number One.

Sincerely,

Mike Lopiccolo

Director of Human Resources and Elementary/Secondary Education

Sweetwater County School District Number One

Rock Spring, WY

# Appendix B: Letter of Cooperation School District B

# Sweetwater County School District #2

320 Monroe Avenue Green River, WY 82935 Phone: 307-872-5500 FAX: 307-872-5518 www.sw2.k12.wy.us



Cristy Magagna-McBee P.O. Box 548 Green River, Wy. 82935 mcbeec@msn.com

February 9, 2009

Dear Cristy Magagna-McBee,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled The Use of Handheld Devices for Improved Phonemic Awareness in a Traditional Kindergarten Classroom within Sweetwater County School District #2. As part of this study, I authorize you to access the DIBELS results for the 2009-2010 school year on the kindergarten classes at Jackson Elementary School. The release of the archived DIBELS data for fall 2009 and winter 2010 will not include student identifiers when given to the researcher. I also approve interviewing two kindergarten teachers at Jackson Elementary School (one who uses the handheld devices and one who does not use the devices) in conjunction with the research. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely,

Craig Sorensen Superintendent

Sweetwater County School District #2

Green River, WY 82935

Interview Questions for Classroom Teachers: With Handheld Devices

#### **Research Question #2**

What is the teachers' perception of the ways handheld devices support or do not support student development of phonemic awareness?

- 1. Describe the physical environment of your classroom where you teach your literacy program, more specifically your phonemic awareness lessons.
  - a. What works or doesn't work with the environment?
  - b. As a professional educator why do you believe this to be the case?
- Describe the demographic makeup of the students in your classroom, including your sub-groups.
- 3. Do you have any specific expectations for behavior in your classroom during the phonemic awareness lessons? How about for academics?
- 4. Describe your philosophy of education.
  - a. Has is changed over the years?
  - b. Is so how?
    If your philosophy has not changed, why do you think it hasn't?
- 5. What curriculum do you use to teach phonemic awareness?
- 6. What, if any schedule do you use for phonemic awareness?
- 7. What supplemental programs/methods do you use to teach phonemic awareness?
- 8. What professional development have you have been offered concerning teaching phonemic awareness?
- 9. Describe how your students' react to the lessons and activities you provide during phonemic awareness lessons.
  - a. What are you hearing in regards to your students?
  - b. What are you seeing in regards to your students?
- 10. Do you believe how you teach phonemic awareness has an impact on student growth? Why? How do you know (assessments?)?

- 12. Describe how you teach phonemic awareness:
  - a. What works best?
  - b. How do you know it works best?
  - c. What doesn't work well?
  - d. How do you know it does not work well?
  - e. Are there things you might do differently? Why/how?
- 13. Do you use any interventions or enrichments with your students during phonemic awareness lessons? How about any that no one else in your building uses?
- 14. When I compared the DIBELS scores between two classes using Bee-Bots and two classrooms not using Bee-Bots, there was no difference in the scores, statistically speaking. That means that using the Bee-Bots didn't improve the academic achievement of the phonemic awareness over more traditional teaching strategies. What do you think of those results do they surprise you at all? Why or why not?
- 15. Given your experience with this age group of students, what are some reasons you might attribute to not finding a difference between the groups?
- 16. Do you feel like Bee-Bots positively impacted or hindered student learning in your classroom? Please explain your position, possibly using examples.
- 17. Do you believe the Bee-Bots were helpful for specific students in your class, and not for others? Please explain.
- 18. What sort of learning curve did you experience with your students to be able to use the Bee-Bots in your classroom? What about for yourself?
- 19. How are you using the Bee-Bot handheld now with your students? Will you change anything for next year?
- 20. Have you shared your experiences with the Bee-Bots with your Kindergarten colleagues? Can you explain?
- 21. Have you shared your experiences with the Bee-Bots with other teachers in your building? Can you explain?
- 22. Have you had any feedback from parents about your use of the Bee-Bots in the classrooms? Can you explain?
- 23. Have you heard or seen anything that surprised you about your students' reactions to using the Bee-Bots?

- 24. What additional information on your perceptions of the Bee-Bots and their use in phonemic awareness can you provide?
- 25. Do you have any additional information you would like to add about your phonemic awareness lessons or teaching methods?

# Appendix D: Interview Questions for Teachers Without Handheld Device

# **Research Question #2**

What is the teachers' perception of the ways handheld devices support or do not support student development of phonemic awareness?

- 1. Describe the physical environment of your classroom where you teach your literacy program, more specifically your phonemic awareness lessons.
  - a. What works or doesn't work with the environment?
  - b. As a professional educator why do you believe this to be the case?
- 2. Describe the learning climate of your classroom in regards to your students (safety and the care of the students).
- 3. Do you have any specific expectations for behavior in your classroom during the phonemic awareness lessons? How about for academics?
- 4. Describe the demographic makeup of the students in your classroom, including sub-groups.
- 5. Describe your philosophy of education.
  - a. Has is changed over the years?
  - b. Is so how?
    If your philosophy has not changed, why do you think it hasn't?
- 6. What curriculum do you use to teach phonemic awareness?
- 7. What, if any schedule do you use for phonemic awareness?
- 8. What supplemental programs/methods do you use to teach phonemic awareness?
- 9. What professional development have you have been offered concerning teaching phonemic awareness?
- 10. Describe any tools or best practices, which you use to teach phonemic awareness.
- 11. Describe how your students' react to the lessons and activities you provide during phonemic awareness lessons.

- 12. Do you believe how you teach phonemic awareness has an impact on student growth? Why? How do you know (assessments?)?
- 13. Describe how you teach phonemic awareness:
  - a. What works best?
  - b. How do you know it works best?
  - c. What doesn't work well?
  - d. How do you know it does not work well?
  - e. Are there things you might do differently? Why/how?
- 14. Had you been given the opportunity to use handheld devices (Bee-Bots) in your classroom for phonemic awareness do you think you would have taken it?
- 15. Do you feel like Bee-Bots would positively impact or hinder student learning? Please explain your position, possibly using examples.
- 16. Have you observed the Bee-Bots in use or had any opportunities to discuss using them with Mrs. George?
  - a. If so, what are your perceptions of Bee-Bots for helping children develop phonemic awareness as a result of these observations or conversations?
- 17. Has your perception of the use of Bee-Bots for teaching phonemic awareness changed as a result of these observations?
- 18. If you had Bee-Bots available to you for use in your classrooms in the future, would you want to use them? Why or why not?
- 19. When I compared the DIBELS scores between two classes using Bee-Bots and two classrooms not using Bee-Bots, there was no difference in the scores, statistically speaking. That means that using the Bee-Bots didn't improve the academic achievement of the phonemic awareness over more traditional teaching strategies? Does that surprise you? Please explain.
- 20. Given your experience with this age group of students, what are some reasons you might attribute to not finding a difference between the groups?
- 21 I want to understand your success teaching phonemic awareness. Do you use any interventions or enrichments with your students during phonemic awareness lessons, which no one else in your building uses?
- 22. What do you believe the key to good teaching re to phonemic awareness is?
- 23. Do you believe the Bee-Bots would be helpful for specific students in your class, and not for others? Please explain.

- 24. What additional information on your perceptions of the Bee-Bots and their use in phonemic awareness can you provide?
- 25. Do you have any additional information you would like to add about your phonemic awareness lessons or teaching methods?

# Appendix E: Enrollment Summary for School District A

# **Enrollment Summary**

as of 11/9/09 () District Office

		District					
Grade Level	TOTAL IN GRADE	Asian	Black	Hispanic	American Indian	White - Not of Hispanic Origin	Unclassified
0	464	6	7	103	1	347	0
	239 / 225	4/2	4/3	54 / 49	0 / 1	177 / 170	0/0
1	453	5	8	89	5	346	0
	250 / 203	3 / 2	4/4	50 / 39	2/3	191 / 155	0/0
2	450 239 / 211	4 0 / 4	12 10 / 2	96 48 / 48	4 2 / 2	334 179 / 155	0 0 / 0
3	398 208 / 190	9 4/5	7 3 / 4	86 48 / 38	0 0/0	296 153 / 143	0 0/0
4	413	3	7	84	3	316	0
	205 / 208	2 / 1	4/3	46 / 38	0 / 3	153 / 163	0/0
5	427	2	8	85	5	327	0
	255 / 172	1 / 1	5/3	50 / 35	4 / 1	195 / 132	0/0
6	422	2	9	86	8	317	0
	215 / 207	2/0	6/3	41 / 45	4 / 4	162 / 155	0/0
7	397	6	11	72	9	299	0
	209 / 188	3/3	4/7	34 / 38	8 / 1	160 / 139	0/0
8	342	4	12	69	3	254	0
	173 / 169	1/3	4/8	<b>33</b> / 36	1/2	134 / 120	0/0
9	336	2	7	53	7	267	0
	153 / 183	0/2	3 / 4	<b>23</b> / 30	4/3	123 / 144	0/0
10	365	3	3	68	5	286	0
	186 / 179	0/3	1 / 2	38 / 30	2 / 3	145 / 141	0/0
11	282	7	8	37	5	225	0
	152 / 130	5 / 2	7 / 1	14 / 23	5 / 0	121 / 104	0 / 0
12	283 149 / 134	2 1/1	4 2/2	53 28 / 25	5 3 / 2	219 115 / 104	0 0/0
TOTAL	5032	55	103	981	60	3833	0
	2633 / 2399	26 / 29	57 / 46	507 / 474	35 / 25	2008 / 1825	0/0

Appendix F: Enrollment Summary for School District B

# **Enrollment Summary**

as of 8/21/09 District Office

Male	1343	51.70%
Female	1256	48.30%
ELL – Service	94	3.60%
ELL – Monitor	20	0.80%
SPED	426	16.40%
Free/Reduced Lunch	454	17.50%
Asian	25	1.00%
Black	17	0.70%
Hispanic	378	14.50%
Indian	26	1.00%
White	2153	82.80%

**TOTAL** 2599

# Appendix G: Participation Consent Form

#### PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

You are invited to participate in a research study entitled: The Use of Handheld Devices for Improved Phonemic Awareness in a Traditional Kindergarten Classroom.

You were selected as a possible participant because of your knowledge and/or experience related to the topic. Please read this form and ask any questions you may have before acting on this invitation to be in the study.

Cristy Ann Magagna-McBee, a doctoral candidate at Walden University, is conducting this study.

# Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the effectiveness of handheld devices (*Bee-Bot*) in a Kindergarten classroom with regard to their use for facilitating the increase of phonemic awareness. The research will specifically address: (a) student use of handheld devices to improve phonemic awareness, and (b) teacher perceptions of the use of the handheld devices with Kindergarten students to enhance phonemic awareness.

# Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, the researcher will interview you. The interviews will be scripted with open-ended questions to determine what pedagogy the teachers are using in their classrooms to teach phonemic awareness. Questions will be asked to determine what works and why and what does not work and why. The group using handheld devices will be asked how they were used and compared to the DIBELS reports to determine if there are significant results to determine that the handhelds made a difference with scores. The groups without the handheld devices will be asked if they think the devices will could work for their classrooms. The interviews will be recorded and the audio files will be transcribed.

# Voluntary Nature of the Study:

Your participation in this study is strictly voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will not affect your current or future relations with the researcher, the school, or the school district.

# Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

There are minimal risks involved with participating in any study. In this case, this risk relates only to the confidentiality of the information you provide in your completed interview. To maintain that confidentiality, the researcher will be the only one who will have access to the information provided in the interviews, and I will keep it in a file drawer that will remain locked whenever I am not actively working with the information. The benefits to participation are that the study may help us to understand more clearly

how handheld devices can help students increase their achievement in phonemic awareness in Kindergarten. This research may also provide additional opportunities for using handheld devices in other grades and curriculum areas.

# Compensation:

No monetary compensation will be provided for participation in this study; however, your involvement in the study is greatly appreciated should you choose to participate. Your participation will be made known to the school and district administration and a proper thank you will be issued upon the completion of the study.

# Confidentiality:

The records of this study will be kept private. In any report of this study that might be

published, the researcher will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a participant or the school district in which the research was conducted. Research records will be kept in a locked file; only the researcher will have access to the records.

# Contacts and Questions:

The researcher conducting this study is Cristy Ann Magagna-McBee. The researcher's doctoral committee chair is Dr. MaryFriend Shepard. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, you may contact them at:

Cristy Ann Magagna-McBee P.O. Box 548
753 Daniel Boone
Green River, WY 82935
307-871-6035
mcbeec@sw1.k12.wy.us

Dr. MaryFriend Shepard 229-227-0240 maryfriend.shepard@waldenu.edu

You may keep a copy of this consent form.

#### Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information. I have asked questions and received answers as I wished, and I consent to participate in the study.

Printed Name of Participant Signature Date

# Appendix H: Confidentiality Form

#### Confidentiality Agreement

Researcher Information:

Cristy Magagna-McBee

cristy.magagna-mcbee@waldenu.edu

(307) 871-6035

Dear Mr. Brian Kaumo,

Sweetwater School District #1 has recommended you as the person who can assist me with my mixed-methods research study entitled: *The Use of Handheld Devices for Improved Phonemic Awareness in a Traditional Kindergarten Classroom.* I will need your assistance with the following activities:

- To access the archived DIBELS assessment data for the four kindergarten classrooms in two school districts for the Fall 2009 and Winter 2010 phonemic awareness scores.
- To assist me with any questions I may encounter during the collection and analysis of the DIBELS data.

All information gathered from teachers is confidential. Therefore, I am required to obtain a confidentiality agreement from you stating that you agree to keep confidential the data you access for the study. Please sign this confidentiality agreement and return it to me at your convenience. I look forward to working with you and I thank you in advance for your assistance in this study. If you have any questions about your role, please feel free to contact me at the information listed below.

Cristy Magagna-McBee (307) 871-6035

# Curriculum Vitae

# CRISTY ANN MAGAGNA-MCBEE

#### PROFESSIONAL WORK EXPERIENCE

INSTRUCTIONAL COACHJUNE 2009-CURRENTSweetwater School District #1Rock Springs, Wyoming

CLASSROOM TEACHER - KINDERGARTENJUNE 2006-JUNE 2009Sweetwater School District #1Rock Springs, Wyoming

CLASSROOM TEACHER – ELEMENTARY (K-8)

Sweetwater School District #2

AUGUST 2002 – MAY, 2006

Green River, Wyoming

SUBSTITUTE TEACHER (PREK-12)
Sweetwater School District #1

JANUARY 2000 - MAY 2002
Rock Springs, Wyoming

AMERICAN RED CROSS - DIRECTOR

Southwest Wyoming Chapter

DECEMBER 1995 – DECEMBER 1999

Rock Springs, Wyoming

#### **EDUCATION**

PH D. IN EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY
Walden University
Graduation Honors: Kappa Delta Pi

JUNE 2010
Baltimore, MD

GPA: 4.000

NATIONAL BOARD CERTIFIED TEACHER (NBPTS)

EARLY CHILDHOOD GENERALIST

NOVEMBER 2010

ARLINGTON, VA.

**EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY CERTIFICATE**Regis University
GPA: 4.000
AUGUST 2005
Denver, CO

MASTER OF EDUCATIONAUGUST 20, 2004Regis UniversityDenver, COGPA: 3.848Denver, CO

**BACHELOR OF ARTS IN LIBERAL ARTS**Regis University
MAY 3, 2002
Denver, CO

Graduation Honors: Magna Cum Laude

GPA: 3.700

ASSOCIATE OF ARTS DEGREE MAY 1, 1991
Western Wyoming Community College Rock Springs, WY

Graduation Honors: Phi Theta Kappa

GPA: 3.220

#### PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT, AWARDS, & CERTIFICATIONS

- Wyoming Education Endorsement in Elementary Education (K-6)
- Wyoming Education Endorsement in Middle School Education (6-8)
- Wyoming Education Endorsement in Coaching (Swimming)
- Wyoming Education Endorsement in Leadership (Principal Permit) (anticipated completion fall '10)
- Sweetwater School District #2 Board of Education, Vice-Chairman since 2007
- Sweetwater County Child Development Center Board Member, Vice-Chairman since 2008
- Sweetwater BOCES Board Member since 2010
- Published book: Bee-Bot Curriculum (Terrapin Logo, 2009)
- Pending article in *Learning & Leading with Technology* (June/July 2010)
- Have published several other professional articles for newsletters, local news, and online resources
- Have presented at several national conventions (NSBA, NECC, I Teach K!, T & L)
- Current Promethean Interactive Board Trainer
- Advantage Math certified
- Have attended several conferences/workshops related to various district initiatives (PLC, Thinking Strategies, Technology Integration, Differentiation, Brain Friendly, Curriculum)
- CERT certified through Sweetwater County Emergency Management
- Certified in CPR and first aid through American Red Cross
- Served on the Assessment Task Force, Math Adoption, Science Adoption, Social Studies Adoption, and Technology Committee for Sweetwater School District #1
- Served as a member of the Distance Education Task Force for the Wyoming Department of Education - 2008
- Have taught several training sessions on various technology topics
- Formed the McKinnon PTSO 2004
- Former Teacher-Leader for 5<sup>th</sup>/6<sup>th</sup> Grade Language Arts for Sweetwater School Dist. #2.
- Served on Language Arts, technology, and mission statement committees for Sweetwater School District #2
- Featured Alumni Display "Student Becomes Teacher" at Western Wyoming Community College
- Recipient of two technology grants (WDE and BOCES)
- Rural Teacher of the Year, Sweetwater School District #2, 2003-2004
- Member of the Rock Springs Education Association, the Wyoming Education Association, and the National Education Association
- Current ISTE (International Society for Technology in Education) Association Member
- Current NSBA (National School Board Association) Member
- Current Member Kappa Delta Pi Member and Foundation Representative/Fundraising Chairperson Walden University
- Current Member of ISTE Mobile Learning Community, Communication Chair